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Making the World Go Round, Around the World.

Throughout its history, NSK has made a vital contribution to the growth
and advancement of various machinery industries through its slogan
of “Motion & Control.” As a comprehensive bearing manufacturer, NSK
responds to the needs of a wide variety of fields via its three business
segments—Industrial Machinery Bearings, Automotive Products and
Precision Machinery and Parts. In the early 1960s, it took the first steps
toward building a significant presence overseas. Recently, the Company
has been accelerating its global expansion through enhancement of
production, sales and development structures worldwide. In the year
ended March 31, 2008, NSK set new records for both sales and operating
income for the fourth year in a row. NSK aims for further improvements by
continuing to implement growth strategies and enhance profitability, and
by honing its ability to respond to changes in the demand environment.
Furthermore, NSK products make an important contribution to
environmental protection by controlling friction and reducing energy
losses. NSK believes that contribution to the environment through its
businesses is essential as part of their corporate social responsibility
(CSR), and will strive to be a meaningful and effective contributor to
society by providing the highest quality products and services.

Making the World Go Round, 444
Around the World.

Mission Statement
NSK aims to contribute to the well-being and safety of society
and to protect the global environment through
its innovative technology integrating Motion & Control.
We are guided by our vision of NSK as a truly international enterprise,
and are working across national boundaries to improve
relationships between people throughout the world.

NSK, Always on the Move.
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			We have achieved record sales and income for the fourth consecutiveROA
year. We
will pursue further growth strategies and profitability enhancement in the lead-up
to the next mid-term plan.
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			NSK’s overseas sales ratio has increased year by year to approximately
50%.
We introduce the initiatives we are developing all over the world, including Asia,
Europe and the Americas.
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			Comments on the performance for the year ended March 31, 2008, followed by
the outlook and priority policies for the year ending March 31, 2009.
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 ales and profit rose, and the operating income margin grew to 14.0% due
S
to sales expansion efforts focusing on priority industries in Europe and
successful capture of capital investment-related demand in Asian countries
such as China.

				Sales and profit rose with major gains in profitability. The operating income
margin grew to 7.0%. This is due to strong sales in the Asia region centered
in Japan, China and Thailand, and sales growth of electric power steering
(EPS) systems.

				Sales and profit declined due to downturns in semiconductor and liquid
crystal production equipment demand and declining sales of exposure
equipment for LCD panel production. However, we realized a double-digit
operating income margin of 12.6% due to our continued efforts to enhance
profitability.
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Cautionary Statements with Respect to Forward–looking Statements
Statements made in this annual report with respect to plans, strategies and future performance that are not historical facts are
forward-looking statements. NSK cautions that a number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those
discussed in the forward-looking statements.
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Financial Highlights
NSK Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Percent change

Millions of yen
(Unless otherwise specified)

For the years ended March 31

2008

Thousands of
U.S. dollars
(Unless otherwise specified)

2007

2008/2007

2008

For the year:

¥772,036

¥717,225

178,299

166,155

7.3

1,782,990

Operating income

69,343

62,383

11.2

693,430

Net income

42,613

34,853

22.3

426,130

Capital expenditures
(excluding intangible assets)

51,971

36,216

43.5

519,710

Depreciation and amortization

38,380

35,316

8.7

383,800

R&D expenditures

10,240

10,100

1.4

102,400

Total assets

828,580

815,788

1.6

8,285,800

Net assets

283,775

276,727

2.5

2,837,750

Interest-bearing debt

264,413

255,557

3.5

2,644,130

25,069

23,413

—

—

Cash flows from operating activities

69,236

64,153

7.9

692,360

Cash flows from investing activities

(23,187)

(64,600)

—

(231,870)

Cash flows from financing activities

(5,923)

20,929

—

(59,230)

113,226

73,319

54.4

1,132,260

78.84

64.53

—

0.788

495.61

485.62

—

4.956

19.0

16.0

—

0.190

Operating income margin

9.0%

8.7%

—

—

ROA

5.2%

4.5%

—

—

ROE

16.1%

14.0%

—

—

0.56

0.69

—

—

Net sales
Gross profit

7.6 %

$7,720,360

At year-end:

Number of employees (persons)
Cash flows:

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
Per share (Yen, U.S. dollars):
Net income
Net assets
Cash dividends
Ratios:

Net D/E ratio (times)

Note:	The amounts represented in dollars appearing in this annual report refer to U.S. currency. Yen amounts have been translated at the rate
of ¥100=U.S. $1.00, the approximate exchange rate on March 31, 2008, solely for the reader’s convenience.
For more detail, please refer to Eleven-year Summary on page 34.
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An Interview with the President and CEO Seiichi Asaka

The year ended March 31, 2008 was the second year of the
mid-term plan, and we achieved record-setting sales and
income for the fourth consecutive year.
We are reinforcing our income base in the lead-up to 2016,
the 100th anniversary of NSK’s foundation.

Seiichi Asaka
President and Chief Executive Officer

444

Q

NSK has achieved record-setting sales and income for four consecutive years. Taking market
trends into account, what is your view of the
Company’s business results for the year ended

boost profitability. The operating income margin rose by

March 31, 2008?

net D/E ratio was 0.56 times and inventory turnover was

A

0.3 percentage point year on year to 9.0% and ROE increased by 2.1 percentage points year on year to 16.1%.
We also continued to improve our balance sheet. The
7.5 times. On the basis of these results, the dividend to

Let me begin with the economic environment at the

shareholders was increased by ¥3 year on year, rising to

outset of the year under review. The outlook at that

¥19 per share for the full year.

time was for a continuation of generally favorable economic conditions. Of course, we kept a cautious eye
on possible changes in the trend of growth in the world
economy that had prevailed for the past several years.
However, it turned out to be a year of sudden changes
in the economic environment, and these changes cast
clouds over the outlook. It all started with the financial

Q
A

How would you comment on the results in each
business segment?
In the industrial machinery bearings segment, we can
report the success of our sales expansion program
focused on priority industries, such as wind turbines,

disruption triggered in August by the emergence of the

which is a growth area in Europe. In Asia, capital in-

subprime loan problem in the United States and its

vestment-related demand remained robust, centered

spread to the real U.S. economy. These problems then

on China where high growth continues. In addition, we

exerted negative effects on the global economy. Cost

were able to boost aftermarket sales globally. As for

inflation, such as the appreciation of the yen and steep

the automotive products segment, there was growth in

increases in the prices of raw materials and crude oil,

sales in Japan backed by strong exports by the auto-

occurred as well.

motive manufacturers. In Asia, we steadily captured ris-

Given these economic conditions, there were down-

ing demand as well, particularly in China and Thailand,

turns in a few areas and industries where we do busi-

and this contributed to an overall increase in sales. In

ness, but our business environment remained firm, on

the precision machinery and parts segment, although

the whole. Net sales increased by 7.6% year on year to

demand continued to be strong for products used in

¥772.0 billion backed by buoyant capital investment-

machine tools, demand adjustment continued in the

related demand and strong demand in emerging mar-

semiconductor and liquid crystal production equip-

kets, where high growth rates continued. Turning to

ment areas. It turned out to be a severe environment

the profit side, operating income increased by 11.2%

for our overall business in this segment.

year on year to ¥69.3 billion and net income surged by

As a result, net sales in the industrial machinery bear-

22.3% year on year to ¥42.6 billion. Although there were

ings segment rose by 10.5% year on year to ¥239.1

increases in expenses, such as the rising prices of raw

billion. Operating income surged 13.3% year on year to

materials and depreciation and amortization, our bottom

¥33.5 billion, backed by increased volume growth, prod-

line benefited from the effect of volume growth, improve-

uct price increases and the effect of the weakening yen.

ments in productivity, reductions in external procurement

The operating income margin in this segment increased

costs, rising product prices, and improvements in export

by 0.3 percentage point year on year to 14.0%.

profits due to the depreciation of the yen.

Net sales in the automotive products segment

Besides the push provided by the external environ-

rose by 9.5% year on year to ¥435.7 billion. Oper-

ment, we began to see major benefits stemming from

ating income soared 35.1% year on year to ¥30.7

our internal efforts to boost profits. As a result, we were

billion. This growth highlights the increased sales

able to achieve record sales and profits for the fourth

volume and the effects of our internal efforts, such

consecutive year. Moreover, we were able to steadily

as reduction in external procurement costs and pro-

Improving Profitability Steadily4
4

Operating Income Margin

9.0%

The year ended March 31, 2007: 8.7%

ROE

16.1%

The year ended March 31, 2007: 14.0%

445

Industrial Machinery Bearings Segment’s
Operating Income Margin

Steady Improvement of Income in
Industrial Machinery Bearings Segment
and Automotive Products Segment 4
4

14.0%

The year ended March 31, 2007: 13.7%

Automotive Products Segment’s
Operating Income Margin

7.0%

The year ended March 31, 2007: 5.7%

ductivity improvement. The operating income margin

chinery bearings, roller bearings (which use a “roller” as

in this segment increased by 1.3 percentage points

rolling elements in place of the “ball” used in ball bear-

year on year to 7.0%.

ings) are widely used in steelmaking equipment, wind

In contrast, net sales in the precision machinery

turbines and other large machinery. Roller bearings re-

and parts segment declined by 12.3% year on year to

quire comprehensive technological prowess, including

¥68.2 billion. Operating income decreased by 25.3%

product development capability, advanced technology

year on year to ¥8.6 billion, reflecting the major effects

and material technology, as well as multi-product and

of a decline in sales volume and resulting in year-on-

small-lot production. These are product areas in which

year decreases in income and profits. Nonetheless, the

NSK can particularly highlight its strengths. Above all,

operating income margin remained at the double-digit

demand for large and super-large roller bearings re-

level, thanks in part to the effect of our continued profit-

mains strong. We see strong and growing demand

ability improvements.

from capital investment-related sales to emerging coun-

Overall, the losses in the precision machinery and

tries and resource-rich countries, and in wind turbines,

parts segment were more than offset by the positive

where rapid market growth is predicted. We want to

growth of the industrial machinery bearings and au-

make the industrial machinery bearings segment an

tomotive products segments, and NSK was able to

even more significant income growth driver. This is why

achieve a record-setting performance.

we are strengthening our production foundations with

Q

Both the industrial machinery bearings and automotive products segments turned in excellent
business performances in the year ended March
31, 2008. What do you see as the strengths of
these two segments?

A

aggressive capital investment in growth areas, including the new Fujisawa second plant (Kirihara Site), which
began operation in January 2008.
In the automotive products segment, it is crucial to
have the technological and product development capabilities to meet the needs of automotive manufacturers. Approximately 100–150 bearings are used in each

Industrial machinery bearings are used in a very wide

automobile produced, and NSK supplies automotive

range of areas spanning capital investment-related

bearings for drive train systems, chassis systems, and

goods such as steelmaking equipment, machine tools

electrical equipment and engine systems, as well as

and construction machinery, to rail cars, wind turbines,

automotive components such as steering products

home appliances and personal computers. Moreover,

and one-way clutches. NSK holds major market share

there are many demands for the extreme bearing sizes

in many categories of these products. Our customers

and demand placed on applications by their working

have increasing needs related to the environment, en-

environment, including the ability to operate under high

ergy, safety and comfort. As a comprehensive bearing

loads, at high-speeds, in a vacuum, and under high

manufacturer, NSK contributes to the development and

temperatures. Thus, many products represent the crys-

evolution of automobiles by refining its approach to

tallization of long years of technological expertise. As

broad ranges of technology and product development.

a comprehensive bearing manufacturer, NSK provides

With the ongoing globalization of the automobile in-

a broad lineup of products. The advanced technologi-

dustry, global models with common platforms are being

cal capabilities that we have built up over many years

produced in a variety of regions. This has led to increas-

provide us with major strengths to meet our customers’

ing demand for uniform quality and stable supply for au-

various needs. Even within the area of industrial ma-

tomotive bearings and components across regions. Alert

P16–23 Review of Operations
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to such needs, NSK has cultivated capability to accu-

build a business configuration that can quickly respond

rately meet these demands by developing and expand-

to market changes by improving productivity through

ing its production sites and technical centers in Japan,

streamlining plant operations and by consolidating

the United States and Europe, as well as in China, India

production, sales and technologies in NSK Precision

and other places in Asia that are becoming the stages

Co., Ltd. With respect to the year ending March 31,

for the future growth of the automobile business.

2009, we will further improve productivity in the Mae-

Automotive products require comprehensive levels

bashi Plant, NSK Precision, through a second stage

of QCDDM (Quality, Cost, Delivery, Development,

of streamlining operations, and will expand the initia-

Management) and are a product area that demands

tive to our other plants in Japan. As for sales, we will

high-level and global capabilities. Enhancing our current

strengthen our overseas sales structures, especially in

strengths, we intend to continue refining QCDDM to

China, Taiwan, Korea, India and other areas of Asia.

further bolster our businesses.

At the same time, we will expand sales in new areas

Q
A

of demand, such as medical equipment, food-industry

What is your view of the precision machinery
and parts segment, which posted year-on-year
declines in income and profits?
In the previous fiscal year, the precision machinery
and parts segment enjoyed brisk demand centered
on products used in machine tools. Amidst rising demand, one big driver of business performance was the
remarkable improvement in productivity that took place
notably in the Maebashi Plant, NSK Precision Co., Ltd.

products and transportation. Therefore, we will reinforce profitability in this segment.

Q
A

NSK has completed the second year of its
mid-term plan (FY2006-FY2008). What is your
assessment of its progress?
In April 2006, NSK launched its mid-term plan, with its
basic policy founded on growth strategies and profitability enhancement, underpinned by its mid-term vision

We were able to achieve the targets for the final year

“To become No. 1 in Total Quality.” Its numerical targets

of our mid-term plan in sales, operating income and

for the year ending March 31, 2009, the final year of

operating income margin during the first year of the

the plan, were ¥740.0 billion in net sales, operating in-

plan—ahead of schedule.

come of ¥74.0 billion and an operating income mar-

In the year under review, however, this segment ex-

gin of 10.0%. By the second year of the plan, we had

perienced year-on-year declines in both income and

already achieved net sales of ¥772.0 billion. Thus we

profit despite a high level of demand for machine tools.

were able to attain our sales target one year in advance,

This decline was the result of the ongoing adjustment

by steadily capturing the growing global demand in the

in demand for products used in semiconductor and

industrial machinery bearings and automotive products

liquid crystal production equipment, which continued

segments. Profitability has been growing steadily, with

from the second half of the previous fiscal year, and

operating income increasing to ¥69.3 billion and the op-

because sales of exposure equipment for LCD panel

erating income margin at 9.0%. In my view, this is the

production decreased substantially due to customers’

result of our two-pronged approach, centered on our

constraints on capital investment.

growth strategy and on profitability enhancement.

Precision machinery and parts is an area of busi-

We are carrying out four major policies to accomplish

ness that experiences comparatively large waves of

the mid-term plan. The first is the reinforcement of man-

change in demand. We set the goal of creating busi-

ufacturing capability, which is a source of competitive

ness foundations to withstand any changes in the busi-

power for manufacturers. We are working to enhance

ness environment. This led us to carry out measures to

our manufacturing capability from three standpoints:

The Mid-term Plan (FY2006–FY2008) Numerical Targets
07/3 Actual

Net sales

(

717.2 (+14.1%)

(¥ Billions)

08/3 Actual

772.0

09/3 Forecast

09/3 Target

(+7.6%)

800.0

(+3.6%)

740.0

71.0

(+2.4%)

74.0

Operating income

62.4 (+46.6%)

69.3 (+11.2%)

Operating income
margin

8.7%		

9.0%		

8.9%		

10.0%

ROE

14.0%		

16.1%		

15.5%		

15.0%

Net D/E ratio (times)

0.69		

0.56		

0.50		

0.40

) year-on-year change

Targets announced
in February 2006
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production innovation, operational innovation and pro-

We are making steady progress with policies to devel-

curement innovation. In contrast to the three years of

op infrastructure to reinforce global partnerships with

the mid-term plan, which envisioned a capital invest-

business headquarters, functional headquarters and

ment program of ¥100.0 billion, we anticipate capital

regional headquarters; in particular, to secure and train

investment at a level surpassing the current level of

global management talent, to strengthen IT systems,

¥130.0 billion. Productivity is steadily improving, thanks

and to put in place operating standards. Our goals are

to the benefits of capital investment as well as our im-

to further raise the levels of organizations and struc-

provement activities. This has made big contributions

tures as well as improve the global divisional structure.

to our business performance in both the previous year

The fourth policy is to improve the Group’s business

and the year under review. Furthermore, in the future

performance through the reinforcement of overseas

we will reap the effects of the production restructuring

profitability. The overseas net sales ratio of the NSK

project in North America, and will implement initiatives

Group is currently about 50%. With respect to prof-

to strengthen production capacities at new production

its, we were able to raise the ratio to around 40%, up

sites, such as the new Fujisawa second plant (Kirihara

from 30% in the previous year due to the big contribu-

Site) and NSK-ABC Bearings, Ltd. in India.

tion from European and Asian regions that increased

The second policy is the reinforcement of product

profits. Europe saw benefits from our policies to ex-

development capability. The best tools to support our

pand sales by focusing on priority industries such as

growth strategy are new high value-added products.

wind turbines. With respect to Asia, stabilization of

We are concentrating on greatly stepping up product

plants already launched in China where economic

development which integrates our basic research,

growth continues and increased sales in the ASEAN

design technology and manufacturing technology as

region contributed to increasing profitability. Although

well as boosting the percentage composition of new

there are profitability issues in North America due to

products within net sales. We will also strengthen our

the downturn in car sales in the United States, we are

production, sales and technology systems in China by

implementing measures to improve profitability by en-

spinning off a technology division of Kunshan NSK (the

hancing sales of industrial machinery bearings and by

main production site in that country for NSK), as an

reaping the benefits following consolidation of plants.

independent research and development corporation.
This move will enhance and strengthen its functions. The
infrastructure of our research and development system
is making progress in each region, including Japan, the
Americas, Europe, ASEAN and China, and we are efficiently administering our foundations of global research
and development and benefiting from their results.

Q
A

What is your outlook for the year ending March
31, 2009, the final year of the mid-term plan?
I see the year ending March 31, 2009 as posing major
challenges. For several years, we have been buoyed
by favorable business conditions, but the situation

The third policy is the reinforcement of global man-

has suddenly changed. Major negative impacts may

agement capability, which is indispensable to efficient

occur from the soaring prices of steel and crude oil.

business operations and accelerated decision-making.

Other negative factors include a slowdown in the global

Framework of the Mid-term Plan

Vision
To Become No. 1 in Total Quality
Group Policies
Growth
Strategies

Reinforcement of
Manufacturing Capability
Reinforcement of
Product Development Capability
Reinforcement of
Global Management Capability
Reinforcement of
Overseas Profitability

Profitability
Enhancement

Improving Global IT Systems
Enhancing Individual Skills and Manufacturing Expertise
Business Strategies, Regional Strategies
Industrial Machinery
Bearings
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Automotive Products

Precision Machinery
and Parts

2006

2007

Firm Advances Mark the First Year of
the Mid-term Plan

Steady Progress toward Achieving
the Targets of the Mid-term Plan

• Backed by buoyant capital investment-related demand, the industrial machinery bearings segment,
our “income growth driver,” made progress in
sales growth and profitability improvement, thereby leading to an increase in company profits.

•Buoyed by robust investments in infrastructure in emerging
and resource-rich countries and strong demand for wind
turbines, the industrial machinery bearings segment posted
favorable growth in both net sales and operating income,
with the operating income margin improving to 14.0%.

• Positioned as our “stable source of income,” the
automotive products segment increased sales, especially to Japanese car manufacturers, and also
made steady progress in improving profitability.

•Driven by demand in Asia, centered on Japan, China and
Thailand, the automotive products segment recorded
higher sales. Profitability improved significantly thanks to
the effects of measures to improve productivity, and the
operating income margin improved to 7.0%.

• The precision machinery and parts segment,
whose goal is “consistent contribution to income,”
maximized profitability thanks to its productivity
improvement measures in the demand expansion
phase, thereby attaining its final-year target values
within the first year of the mid-term plan.

•Although the precision machinery and parts segment suffered declines in both income and profits because of the
effects of the downturn in liquid crystal and semiconductor
markets, the operating income margin stayed at 12.6% by
the effects of our continued profitability improvement.

economy and the underlying tone of appreciation in the

of steel and other raw materials as well as crude oil,

yen. In order to overcome the difficulties in the exter-

we will minimize the negative effects of cost increases

nal business environment, we are implementing thor-

on profits by reducing payroll expenses through our

ough measures to enhance our profitability by work-

internal efforts to enhance plant productivity and by re-

ing steadily to address products for which demand is

ducing SG&A expenses by improving the operational

strong in the industrial machinery bearings and auto-

efficiency of administrative sections. At the same time,

motive products segments. We are aiming to set

we will also implement appropriate revisions of product

record sales and income for the fifth consecutive year,

pricing, and raise the prices of products in the industrial

expecting net sales to rise by 3.6% year on year to

machinery bearings area, where supplies remain tight

¥800.0 billion, operating income to rise by 2.4% year

because of ongoing strong demand.

on year to ¥71.0 billion, and the operating income mar-

The second priority is to respond to changes in the

gin to stand at 8.9%. Net income is expected to rise by

business environment more quickly. We must carefully

3.3% year on year to ¥44.0 billion.

examine demand trends, and whenever there are signs

We expect net sales to exceed the target for the final

of change, we must disseminate this information as

year of the mid-term plan, which was ¥740.0 billion. In

quickly as possible and take prompt action. Our capi-

the cases of operating income and operating income

tal investment for the year ending March 31, 2009, is

margin, the targets were ¥74.0 billion and 10.0%, re-

slated to be ¥45.0 billion. We must channel it flexibly

spectively. I think it will be difficult for us to achieve these

and accurately in accordance with changes in the busi-

targets because of recent negative factors. Among

ness environment.

these factors are sharp increases in the prices of steel

The third priority is to thoroughly implement profit-

and other raw materials, which were not foreseen when

ability enhancement. Our most crucial business issue

the mid-term plan was announced, as well as the down-

is to create business foundations that are conducive to

turn in car sales in North America. Although we will take

sustained growth associated with profits, without be-

actions to absorb these increases in cost, it will take

ing adversely affected by the external business envi-

time for our countermeasures to become effective. Our

ronment. We have been working on this as one of the

first steps will be to make steady progress in achieving

pillars of our mid-term plan. However, we must improve

the targets and to link these results to the next mid-term

our business structure even more thoroughly in order

plan, which will be launched in the next year.

to create the foundations for our next mid-term plan,

Q
A

which starts from fiscal 2009.

What are your thoughts regarding priority policies for the year ending March 31, 2009?

The fourth priority is to steadily capture demand in
growing fields. The global economy is slowing. However, demand is booming in areas such as infrastruc-

Speaking in broad terms, we will implement four priority

ture-related large and super-large bearings as well as in

tasks amid the growing uncertainty in the business en-

emerging countries such as the BRICs nations (Brazil,

vironment. The first priority is to positively absorb rising

Russia, India and China) and VISTA (Vietnam, Indone-

costs. To counteract the steep increases in the prices

2008
Thorough Implementation of
Profitability Improvement
Keeping in Mind the Next Mid-term Plan

Net Sales

NEXT 10

Operating Income

Our Centenary
(2016)

¥1 trillion
Greater than ¥100 billion

• We are focusing on growth areas while carrying out
thorough profitability improvement amid an increasingly
uncertain business environment, marked by rises in the
price of steel, an appreciating yen, and worldwide economic slowdown.
• Although net sales are expected to exceed our midterm plan target of ¥740.0 billion, achieving our profit
targets is likely to be more difficult due to changes in
the external business environment.
• We are committed to the policies of the mid-term plan,
centered on the twin pillars of growth strategy and
profitability enhancement. At the same time, we are
creating a business foundation that leads to the next
mid-term plan (FY 2009–2011).
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Expansion of
Sales in Asian Region4
4

Sales by Region/Asia

¥141.9 billion

The year ended March 31, 2007: ¥126.0 billion

44

Composition Ratio by Region/Asia

18.4%

The year ended March 31, 2007: 17.6%

sia, South Africa, Turkey and Argentina). We must firmly

push for major growth in sales to European and Ameri-

respond to these high growth areas in order to further

can manufacturers and to local China- and India-based

expand our business.

manufacturers. In the automotive business, our target

Q

is to expand by responding to both the global and

In recent years, the center of gravity of overseas
business has increasingly shifted to China and
India. Do you have any measures that focus on
these areas in particular?

A

region-specific car models designed by European and
American manufacturers, and by winning over top local manufacturers. In the industrial machinery area, the
growth in demand for infrastructure is likely to continue
and infrastructure will become more advanced tech-

The Asian region is a market that underpins the growth

nologically. To respond to such on-the-spot needs, we

of the Company. Over a long period of time, we have

will strengthen our already dominant position in Asia by

taken vigorous steps to open production, sales and R&D

making more extensive use of our existing operating

sites in Asia, and in the future we will accelerate the en-

sites and by aggressively opening new sites.

hancement of infrastructure and business expansion.
Let us look at China first. Since 1997, when we
launched production of ball bearings, we have worked
to expand the scale of local production and broaden
the product range. At present, our headquarters in China oversees nine production sites including those currently being prepared for operation and 11 sales sites,
as well as an R&D center. In terms of production, we
are reinforcing the supply structure of pre-processing

Q

What are your thoughts regarding corporate
social responsibility (CSR) and corporate governance, which have been drawing increasing
attention from the public recently?

A

In its mission statement, NSK clearly advocates contribution to environmental conservation and the development of society and peoples’ lives.

operations and manufacturing not only for ball bearings

Our products, such as bearings, automotive com-

but also for hub unit bearings, needle roller bearings

ponents and precision machinery and parts, by their

and tapered roller bearings. In the area of automotive

nature contribute greatly to energy-savings. They con-

components, in addition to steering columns and au-

trol friction to facilitate the smooth movement of ob-

tomatic transmission (AT) components, we will launch

jects, and they enable precise control without power

production of electric power steering (EPS) systems

loss. We are favored in our business by being able to

in China in 2009. We established an independent re-

contribute to society and the environment through the

search and development corporation in January 2008,

products we provide, in other words, through the di-

and we are greatly expanding our local R&D structure.

rect operation of our business. We aim to contribute

Turning next to India, until recently our presence

to environment conservation by enhancing our prod-

was limited to a joint venture corporation manufac-

uct quality and performance to reduce energy loss to a

turing steering columns. In February 2008, however,

minimum. We also aim to reduce environmental impact

we launched the manufacture of bearings. We also

by reducing CO2 emissions, resource saving, waste

started production of EPS systems in May 2008, and

reduction and recycling in our manufacturing processes.

established a sales company. In the ASEAN region,

This is one of the core objectives of our business activ-

we reinforced the capacity of our production sites in

ity. Furthermore, NSK Group’s existence is built upon

Thailand and Indonesia, established a sales company

mutual relationships between various stakeholders,

in Vietnam, and are expanding and strengthening our

and it is very important to build good relationships

distribution network in the aftermarket area.

through close communication. Realization of our mis-

In the past, the growth of business in Asia was centered on Japanese customers; however, we will now

P13 Feature—Acceleration of Overseas Operations: Asia

sion statement through continuing these activities is
the most important CSR objective for NSK.

Cover 2 Mission Statement
P26–27 Social and Environmental Activities
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Turning to corporate governance, NSK’s Corporate
Governance Code stipulates that the NSK Group enhances shareholder value by continuing to ensure an
appropriate profit as a company while fulfilling its CSR.
We regard these points both as management priorities
and as the foundations of our CSR efforts. In order to
establish the high levels of sound and transparent management that support sustainable company growth,
we have adopted a governance structure based on
the “Company with Committees” system. This system

We regard the current mid-term plan as the period

defines the operational executive functions and the su-

that establishes the sources of income as an initial step

pervisory functions. In addition, we have invited four

leading up to the year 2016, which will mark the 100th

independent directors, comprising one-third of all di-

anniversary of our founding. We chose the slogan, “To

rectors. In this manner, we subject our management

become No. 1 in Total Quality” to summarize our mid-

to the critical eyes of outside observers and consider

term vision. This covers not only product quality, which

their opinions during the management process. Fur-

is a fundamental for manufacturers, but the quality of all

thermore, we established the Internal Control Project

our business processes, including the service we pro-

Team in April 2006 to respond to application of the in-

vide. The business environment is currently undergoing

ternal control reporting system—the Japanese version

great change. But I believe that remaining thoroughly

of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) Act—that will come

committed to achievement of our mid-term vision will

into force from the year ending March 31, 2009. We are

flow on to the next mid-term plan, and we will be able

developing an internal control system and strengthen-

to lay down the growth foundations for our 100th an-

ing its operation, along with the creation of sub-teams

niversary and the subsequent future.

set up in each region and Group company. At the same

We aim to realize sustainable growth. At the same

time, we are also further improving management qual-

time, we intend to further improve our corporate value

ity through standardizing and enhancing the efficiency

while continuing to meet the expectations of all stake-

of management and business operation. In the future,

holders by carrying out our social responsibilities, such

we will actively work to increase social contribution

as ensuring compliance, protecting the environment,

through our business, and strengthen corporate gov-

contributing to society through our businesses, and

ernance to enhance shareholder value.

creating worker-friendly environments.

Lastly, please tell us your ideas about raising the
corporate value of NSK.

ued understanding and support of our shareholders

I became the president of NSK in 2002. Since that time,

July 2008

Q
A

We hope that these efforts will win us the continand investors.

we have shifted from structural reforms that implemented the selection and concentration of operations
to a new direction aiming for further growth. The previous mid-term plan was centered on our growth strategy and profitability enhancement, and now we are in
the final year of the current mid-term plan, which repre-

Seiichi Asaka

President and Chief Executive Officer

sents a further refinement of this strategy.

P28–31 Corporate Governance
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Feature
Acceleration of Overseas Operations

Asia44

The Americas44

NSK is Spinning around the World.
NSK launched its first significant presence in overseas markets with
the establishment of sales subsidiaries in the Americas and Europe in the early 1960s.
Since then, it has opened production, sales and R&D sites all over the world.
Today, NSK has 131 overseas operations in 26 countries,
and overseas sales account for approximately half of total sales.
NSK will continue to accelerate the growth and evolution of its overseas operations.
Here is a brief look at selected initiatives in Asia,
the Americas and Europe that aim at
further business expansion and enhanced profitability.

Europe44

Japan44

Asia
Europe
The Americas
Japan

>> Net Sales by Region
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1916

1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2007

Asia

Building Infrastructure Proactively in Important Growing Markets

South Korea
2 2 1

China
1 7 11 1 4

Expanding our Automotive Business in Asia
The automotive market in the Asian region* is growing at a rate of 10% or
more per year. Asia is forecast to become a significantly more important growth
center, so the world's automakers are competing intensely for market share
in this region. Within this business environment, Japanese, European and
American manufacturers are expanding global platforms in Asia and creating
special models aimed at the Chinese and Indian markets. Local manufacturers are launching extremely low price models and accelerating measures to
strengthen their export competitiveness, in an attempt to remain among the
market leaders. For parts manufacturers like NSK this presents an opportunity
for future growth, and is a watershed moment for deepening commitment to
this important market.
NSK took the lead in terms of ensuring a presence in the Asian region by
opening a succession of plants from the middle of the 1990s to the beginning
of the 2000s, and we are proceeding with additional expansion of production
infrastructure and sales channels in China, the ASEAN countries and India
to enlarge our automotive businesses there. We have enhanced our production capacity for hub unit bearings for automobile wheels, drive bearings and
electric power steering (EPS) systems, and we have established sales corporations in India and Vietnam. In the future, we will continue to proactively
implement strategies and policies to further enhance our infrastructure in this
* Excluding Japan
important growth region.

Establishment of a Research and Development
Corporation in China
NSK established NSK (China) Research and Development Co., Ltd., an independent research and development corporation in China, in January 2008. In
the fast-growing Chinese market we are expanding our production, sales and
technology structures rapidly, and enhancement of research and development
functions will be the foundation of medium to long-term growth in the future.
Until now technological aspects in China were mainly handled by the China
Technology Division, one of the departments within Kunshan NSK Co., Ltd.,
which is our major production company, mainly performing tests and evaluations of ball bearings. Other technological support was provided by technology
centers in Japan.
The newly-established research and development corporation is an independent organization which covers all of NSK’s products, and plays a critical
role as the technology center responsible for the technology strategy of the
Chinese operation, including basic and applied research, development and
design, survey analysis, the development of production technology and the
provision of technological support to customers. When the new office building
is completed in 2009 we will move the current China Technology Division, and in 2011, we will expand its size to 300 employees. Establishing this research and development corporation will strengthen our foundation as the top manufacturer
of bearings in the Chinese market, and enable us to further
expand our position in other businesses as well—by enhancing our sales technology, localizing and speeding up design
and enhancing research and development functions tailored
to the unique needs of the Chinese market.

Japan
1 23 57 4

Vietnam
1 2

Taiwan 5

India 3 5

Philippines 1
Malaysia 2 4
Indonesia
2 2

Singapore 2
Thailand 1 2 3 1
Australia

4

Headquarters:
3
Production sites:
41
Sales sites:
97
R&D centers:
7
Representative offices: 7

New Zealand
1

Refer to P16 for regional data

>> Expanding Automotive Business in Asia
(New Construction and Expansion)
Production site
Sales site
NSK-YAGI PRECISION FORGING
(ZHANGJIAGANG) CO., LTD.
CHANGSHU NSK NEEDLE BEARING CO., LTD.
SUZHOU NSK BEARINGS CO., LTD.
KUNSHAN
NSK CO., LTD.
NSK-WANDA ELECTRIC POWER ASSISTED
STEERING SYSTEMS CO., LTD.
NSK VIETNAM CO., LTD.
RANE NSK
STEERING SYSTEMS LTD.
NSK BEARINGS MANUFACTURING
NSK-ABC
(THAILAND) CO., LTD.
BEARINGS LTD.
NSK INDIA SALES
CO. PVT. LTD.

SIAM NSK
STEERING SYSTEMS CO., LTD.

PT. NSK BEARINGS
MANUFACTURING INDONESIA

Artist’s View of NSK (China) Research and Development Co., Ltd.
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The Americas

Enhancing Profitability and Strategy to Improve the NSK Brand
Canada 3

U.S.A.
1 7 6 1

Business Restructuring in North America

Increasing our Presence in Latin America
The Latin American market is attracting worldwide attention due to its increasing demand for raw materials and food. Demand from maintenance and repair
of machinery and equipment in mining, steelmaking, pulp making, ethanol production and agriculture sectors is expanding. Production of automobile and
two-wheeled vehicles is rapidly increasing due to growing consumer demand.
This increasing demand is leading to solid growth in the bearing markets.
Since commencement of ball bearing production at the Suzano Plant in
Brazil in 1972, we have established our position in Brazil as the leading brand in
products for automobiles, electric components, motorcycles and electrical machinery. In the aftermarket sector, we have implemented measures to enhance
the NSK brand through activities for end-users focusing on technical training for
maintenance and repair. We have already opened 13 training centers at NSK’s
sites, leading technology universities and distributors. We provide maintenance
and repair technology training for over 12,000 people a year. As a result, NSK’s
reputation has made the biggest improvement within the bearing sector, according to the brand surveys conducted by NEI (the Brazil industrial machinery
news magazine). In February 2008,
we established a technical center
in Brazil, which is the first full-scale
technical center in the Latin American bearing industry. We will have
an overwhelming advantage with
our technical services and will strive
to further increase our presence in
the Latin American market.
Technological Training/Brazil Technology Center

4414

Headquarters:
1
Production sites: 8
Sales sites:
16
R&D centers:
2

Mexico 1

Brazil 1 5 1
Argentina 1

Refer to P16 for regional data

>> Progress of Business Restructuring
in North America
(£ Thousands)

2005
Production Improvement of
Restructuring Business Mix

It is estimated that demand for bearings in North America is comprised of approximately 40% automotive bearings and 60% industrial machinery bearings.
The demand environment has been changing structurally in recent years. In the
automotive segment, there have been environment changes such as a shift to
small and medium-sized vehicles, a decline in the competitiveness of the Detroit
Three automakers, and cost reduction pressures. In the industrial machinery
segment, production of bearings for electrical machinery has shifted to China
and the Asian region, in general.
In response to these structural changes and to improve profitability, NSK
has advanced two major structural reforms in North America: strengthening the
production competitiveness of automotive bearings and improving our business
mix in the industrial machinery bearings sector. On the production side, we have
reorganized and consolidated our five bearing plants (including pre-processing
operations and steel ball manufacturing) into four plants. The Ann Arbor Plant
in Michigan was involved in the manufacture of bearings mainly for automotive
drive systems, engines and electrical components, but in May 2007 we finished
transferring its production lines to the Clarinda Plant in Iowa. At the Clarinda
Plant, we have completed stabilization of production. Although demand is decreasing because of the deterioration of the economic environment in North
America, we will implement additional measures to assure volumes and reap
the effects of the consolidation. Furthermore, in the industrial machinery bearings segment, we are moving to expand sales in our most profitable sectors and
continuing initiatives to improve our business mix. We are doing this by aggressively meeting demand in sectors in which we have had a small presence previously, such as pumps and compressors, agricultural machines and gearboxes,
and by further enhancing and expanding sales channels and developing more
end-users in the aftermarket.

2006

Transfer of Facilities

2007

2008

2009

200,000

Additional
Production Measures
Stabilization
Reaping the Effects

Industrial Machinery Bearing OEM

Sector Approach

100,000

Development of End-users
Expansion of Sales Channels

Aftermarket

>> Brazil Research on Brand Preference
(NEI)
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Europe

Improving Our Position through Growth of the Core European Business
Germany 1 3 1 2

Expanding our Business with European Automakers

U.K.

Improvement
of
Production Production
Improvement
of
Business Mix
Restructuring
Business Mix
Restructuring

Norway 1
The expansion of NSK’s automotive business has been driven by the global
1 5 2 1 1
growth of Japanese automakers, while at the same time we have aggressively
Poland 4 3 1 1
France 1
moved to develop new customers among non-Japanese automakers. Currently,
we do business with nearly all the major automakers, including those in Europe
Turkey 1
Spain 1
and the Americas, but there is still a lot of room for expansion of our business
Italy 1 2
with non-Japanese manufacturers. In particular, European manufacturers are
demanding high-technology standards, due to the intense competition in their
local market, the harsh driving environment in Europe, and the heavy demand
for environmentally friendly vehicles. Therefore, they are important trendsetters
that encourage us to enhance our
technological capabilities, along with
Japanese automakers. They are also
our priority target customers for fuHeadquarters:
1
ture business expansion, in the sense
Production sites:
11
that they will test, and also make full
Sales sites:
14
use of our worldwide supply capacity
R&D centers:
3
Representative offices: 5
South Africa 1
by expanding their global platform.
Previously, we have increased our
business with European automakers
Refer to P16 for regional data
by supplying hub unit bearings, drive Exhibiting Products and Technology to
train bearings, electric power steering European Automakers
>> Bearing Sales in Automotive Bearings
(EPS) systems. We are also working to expand our presence further by taking
Business in Europe
advantage of our major strengths: our technological capabilities, our product
(£ Thousands)
200,000
lineup and our global response capabilities. In addition, we have appointed
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
the German Vice President, Head of all European Operations to be the person
(£ Thousands)
Additional
responsible for handling transactions with European and American custom200,000
Production Measures
Transfer
of Facilities (AOC), which is a
ers and established an automotive operating
committee
Stabilization
2005
2006
2007
2008 2009
Reaping the Effects
structure for following up global transactions, within our Automotive Business
Additional
Production Measures
100,000
Division-Headquarters, to discuss and decide
overall
strategy.
Transfer
ofMachinery
Facilities
Industrial
Bearing OEM
Sector Approach
Stabilization

Reaping the Effects
Development of End-users
Aftermarket
Industrial Machinery
Bearings
Expansion
of Sales Channels

Sector-oriented Activities in the
Industrial Machinery Bearing OEM
Segment (Building on the Success of
Wind Turbines)

Sector Approach

Development
of End-users
Wind turbines are becoming more and moreAftermarket
common throughout
the world
as
Expansion of Sales Channels
practical measures to prevent global warming. The bearings used in the generator and drive units that are the heart of wind(Index)
turbines are required to be as highly
reliable as those used in airplanes, to be durable
enough to continue rotating for
100
the 20-year lifespan of a wind turbine, and to have the high efficiency needed
(Index)
to reduce energy loss to a minimum. Demand
for wind turbines is expanding
80
100
Company A
worldwide, and European wind turbine builders and gearbox manufacturers
account for approximately three-quarters 60
of the production volume of world
80
demand for both wind turbines and generator and drive units.
NSK
Company
A
Since the 1990s, NSK has gradually developed
sector-oriented activities
40
60
to identify strategic sectors from among a wide range of industries Company
and winB
NSK
orders in those sectors, in order to capture
demand
for
industrial
machinery
20
Company C
40
bearings in Europe. We have focused on the gearbox and wind turbineCompany
sectorsD
Company
CompanyBE
in addition to steelmaking equipment and machine
tools,
the
sectors
in
which
0
20
Company
C
we have traditionally held a competitive advantage
the global
The
1995 in2000
2005 business.
2007
Company D
conservative European manufacturers tend to be cautious about using
new
Company E
0
suppliers, but we have established relationships
and gradually won their trust
1995 2000 2005 2007
by cooperating with tests and experiments. These diligent efforts combined
with the wind turbine boom resulting from the increasing focus on environmentally friendly energy sources, have led to an expansion of NSK’s wind turbine
business in Europe. High demand is also forecast in the future, and we can
expect further increases in sales and a growing market share in this field.
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Review of Operations
NSK has expanded its business scope by finding new applications for high technologies accumulated through development and production of bearings that control friction and facilitate rolling.
Today, NSK has three core business segments, the industrial machinery bearings segment,
the automotive products segment and the precision machinery and parts segment, all of which
provide products to meet diversifying global needs.
By Business Segment
Net Sales by Business Segment

Net Sales (¥ Billions)
800

772.0
29.1772.0
Others
717.2
Others
25.3717.268.2 29.1
Precision
Machinery and Parts

800
700

628.5
700
77.7 25.3 435.768.2
Precision Machinery and Parts
14.0628.5
77.7
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65.8 14.0397.9
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500
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Industrial Machinery 400
31%Bearings
Bearings
08/3
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Automotive Products
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300
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239.1
216.3
195.6
200
239.1
216.3
Industrial Machinery Bearings
195.6
100
Industrial Machinery Bearings
100

56%
56%

Automotive Products
Automotive Products

0

006/3

07/3
08/3
06/3
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By Region
Net Sales (Based on customer location) (¥ Billions)
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The Americas

Europe

Asia

06/3

Asia

72%

08/3

17%

14%
Japan

0

08/3

28%

10%
50%

07/3

Workforce

11%
08/3

06/3

Europe

Assets

19%
17%

0

12%

43%

07/3

08/3

Industrial Machinery Bearings
Business Overview This segment comprises bearings for a broad
239.1
216.3
range of needs. Products range from miniature bearings to super-large
(¥ Billions) 195.6
bearings, to products that withstand difficult environments, such as heavy
loads, high speeds and revolutions, vacuums and high temperatures.
239.114.0%
Aftermarket
13.7%
NSK is a comprehensive bearing manufacturer, serving the general
216.3
(¥ Billions) 195.6
11.3%
machinery sector (such as steelmaking equipment, machine tools and
rail cars), the electrical machinery and IT equipment sectors (including General Industrial
239.1
Machinery
14.0%
33.5
Aftermarket
home appliances and personal computers), and the aftermarket sector
29.6
216.313.7%
22.1
(¥ Billions) 195.6
that services the important maintenance and repair needs from all of the
11.3%
Electrical/IT
above sectors.
General
Industrial
Equipment
Aftermarket
Machinery

Mainstay Products
• Standard Ball Bearings
• Roller Bearings
• Other Bearings for Industrial Machinery

Automotive Products
Business Overview In this segment, NSK provides its products to two
areas of the automotive business. In one area, we supply automotive
bearings for use in engines, chassis, drive trains and other parts of
motor vehicles. In the other, we supply automotive components, such
as electric power steering (EPS) systems and automatic transmission
(AT) components. Amid increasingly demanding needs in the automotive
industry—not only for improved safety and comfort, but also reduced
impact on the environment—NSK responds with well-proven technical
strengths, a wide range of products, and production and sales sites
located all over the world.
Mainstay Products
• Hub Unit Bearings
• Needle Roller Bearings
• Other Automotive Bearings

• Electric Power Steering (EPS) Systems
• Automatic Transmission (AT) Components
• Steering Components

Precision Machinery and Parts
Business Overview NSK provides linear motion products such as ball
screws and linear guides (products that enable high-precision linear
motion and rapid positioning of machinery), mechatronic products such
as XY tables and megatorque motors (products that can utilize ultraprecision positioning and control technologies developed by NSK), and
exposure equipment for LCD panel production. These serve a variety of
applications, such as machine tools, industrial robots, semiconductor
and liquid crystal production equipment and medical equipment. In this
way, NSK contributes to the progress of cutting-edge industries through
its advanced “MOTION & CONTROL” technologies.
Mainstay Products
• Ball Screws
• Linear Guides
• Other Linear Motion Products

• XY Tables
• Megatorque Motors
• E xposure Equipment for LCD Panel Production
• Other Mechatronic Products

06/3
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13.7%
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Net Sales by Region
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Net Sales by Region
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Industrial Machinery Bearings
During the year under review, we made aggressive efforts to capture demand related to capital
investment in Asia. Our sector-oriented activities in Europe resulted in expanded sales, and
there was an increase in sales to the aftermarket sector, which is performing well globally. As a
result, net sales in the industrial machinery bearings segment improved by 10.5% year on year.
Furthermore, operating income increased 13.3% year on year, and the operating income margin
increased to 14.0% due to volume growth and the effect of a successful price adjustment.
Market Environment and Performance for the Year Ended March 31, 2008
Looking at the environment surrounding the industrial machinery bearings segment in the year under
review, there was increasing demand related to capital investment in the emerging economies and
resource-producing economies, both of which are continuing to grow, and there were strong sales of
bearings for wind turbines, which are seeing growth as an alternative, environmentally friendly energy
source. Both of these factors helped our business to grow. In Japan, sales to the machine tools and
construction machinery sectors were strong. In the Americas, sales to the construction machinery
and general machinery sectors grew and the strong performance in Brazil also contributed to
increased sales. In Europe, economic conditions remained robust, and sales grew due to our sectororiented activities focused on priority industries, which yielded strong gains in the wind turbine and
machine tools sectors. In Asia, we made aggressive efforts to capture demand for machine tools
and general machinery in China and India, two economies which are growing rapidly. Sales in both
of those sectors increased. Furthermore, overseas sales to the aftermarket sector increased in each
region, as we continued to enhance and expand our distribution network.
As a result, net sales for the industrial machinery bearings segment in the year under review were
10.5% higher year on year at ¥239.1 billion. Operating income increased by 13.3% year on year to
¥33.5 billion, and the operating income margin improved from 13.7% to 14.0%. Although there was
an increase in depreciation due to an amendment to the Japanese Corporate Tax Law and rising
steel prices, this was more than offset by the effect of volume growth and the effect of a successful
price adjustment primarily in the aftermarket.
Outlook and Priority Policies for the Year Ending March 31, 2009
[Outlook] Looking ahead at the demand environment in the year ending March 31, 2009, we predict
that demand will continue to be robust on the whole, primarily in Asia and Europe. In particular, demand
for large and super-large bearings related to capital investment and wind turbines will continue to
be strong. Furthermore, we are implementing measures to expand sales in the aftermarket sector,
including the development of a new distribution network overseas. As a result, we expect that net sales
for the industrial machinery bearings segment will increase by 6.7% year on year to ¥255.0 billion.
We also forecast that operating income will increase by 7.5% year on year to ¥36.0 billion and that
the operating income margin will increase to 14.1%. Fixed costs, such as depreciation, amortization
and payroll expenses will increase due to our aggressive capital investment and the changes in the
external environment, such as rising steel prices and the negative impact of the exchange rate due to
the appreciation of the yen. However, these factors will be more than offset by the effects of volume
growth and a successful price adjustment, primarily in the aftermarket sector.
[Priority Policies] The sector-oriented activities we have tailored to the characteristics of industries,
such as steelmaking equipment, machine tools, wind turbines and rail cars, are producing results,
and the expansion of sales of roller bearings, one of the policies in our mid-term plan (FY2006–
FY2008) is progressing steadily. In the year ending March 31, 2009, we will deepen initiatives in
our growth driving fields such as the infrastructure investment-related and wind turbine sectors in
which demand is strong, and also in sectors such as mining, papermaking and fluid mechanics, in
which we are making efforts to further strengthen our activities. Furthermore, in order to be able to
respond to expanding demand, we aim to enhance our roller bearing production capacity through
gradual expansion of capital investment for machinery at the new Fujisawa second plant (Kirihara
Site) which commenced operation in January 2008. We plan to have the plant fully operational by the
end of March 2009. Moreover, we will push ahead with our efforts to maximize production capacity
by effectively utilizing our domestic production sites, and to increase production capacity through
increased production efficiency. Furthermore, we aim to expand our production foundation to enable
the business to grow.
In the aftermarket sector, in which we are purposefully expanding sales, we will utilize existing
sales channels as much as possible, and we will also move ahead with the development of a new
distribution network in the Americas, Europe and Asia. We will further enhance our supply services
to expand sales with the start of full-scale activities by the specialist aftermarket technical team that
was established in October 2007 to improve our technical services, and through expansion of our
stock for immediate delivery by identifying our best-selling items and utilizing global stock.
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A Multi-field Specialist.
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[HDDs]
Supporting the Operation of Precision
Electronic Devices
Hard disk drives (HDDs) are common in personal
computers. Recently, they have also found use in mobile
telephones and car navigation systems. NSK’s bearings
make possible the operation of the HDD’s high-precision
magnetic head, which must float just one ten thousandth
of a millimeter above the hard disk platter in order to enable
the rapid writing, storage, and retrieval of valuable data.

[Wind Turbines]
Inside the Steadfast Heart of a Wind Turbine
World-wide demand for wind turbines as an
environment-friendly energy source is expected to
grow. The bearings used in the drive parts such as
main shafts, gearboxes and generator units must be
reliable enough to support the rotation of an enormous
wind turbine for 20 years or more. NSK bearings,
which are built into wind turbines throughout the world,
meet this strict requirement.

With the Capabilities to Support a World in Revolution.

[Washing Machines]
Working Quietly in Homes
There has always been strong demand for quiet home
appliances in Japan because houses are more densely
concentrated than overseas and because the Japanese
people tend to like a quiet environment. NSK’s bearings
that meet these needs are among the quietest in the
world. They contribute to greater peace and quiet
for people in Japan and other countries through their
presence in a variety of home appliances, including air
conditioners, vacuum cleaners and washing machines.

[Steelmaking Equipment]
Used in Extreme Environments
High temperatures, water, iron dust, vibration, shock,
rapid acceleration and deceleration and extreme
forces—bearings used in steelmaking equipment must
work under tough conditions. NSK has become the
global No. 1 company in this sector by dramatically
increasing the working life of its bearings and cutting
maintenance costs.
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Automotive Products
Export demand was strong in Japan, and sales increased in Europe and Asia, particularly in
China. As a result, net sales in the automotive products segment increased 9.5% year on year.
Operating income grew by 35.1% year on year due to the effect of volume growth and efforts
within the Company, including reductions in external procurement costs and improvements in
productivity. The operating income margin improved to 7.0%.
Market Environment and Performance for the Year Ended March 31, 2008
Net sales of the automotive products segment grew by 9.5% year on year to ¥435.7 billion, driven
by export demand in Japan and increased sales in Asia, more than offsetting the slowdowns in
automobile sales in Japan and North America. In the automotive bearings sector, sales of needle
roller bearings increased in Japan for use in automatic transmissions (AT), and sales of hub unit
bearings in China, amid expanding automobile sales, grew significantly. In the automotive components
sector, sales of electric power steering (EPS) systems rose in Japan due to a growing number of new
models adopting them, and sales of AT components were also strong. In the Americas, although
sales to Japanese manufacturers increased, production ceased on some car models that use our
components, resulting in an overall decline in net sales. In Europe, sales of EPS systems fell due
to the impact of the production change-over of models which use our components. However, in the
Asian region sales of steering columns were strong in Thailand and China.
Operating income grew by 35.1% year on year to ¥30.7 billion and the operating income margin
improved markedly from 5.7% the previous year to 7.0%. Several factors contributed to this
result despite a fall in sales prices, a rise in steel prices, and an increase in fixed costs, including
depreciation, amortization and payroll expenses. These include the effect of volume growth, reduced
external procurement costs and the effect of a favorable exchange rate. Furthermore, improvement
efforts within the Company, namely productivity improvements through the capital investments we
have implemented, greatly contributed to this result.
Outlook and Priority Policies for the Year Ending March 31, 2009
[Outlook] Regarding the prospects for the world’s automotive markets, we expect that global sales
of automobiles will increase slightly compared with the year under review. Demand will decline in
Japan and Western Europe, and sales of automobiles will also decline in North America. However,
demand in emerging economies such as China and India will continue to grow. In this environment,
we expect that the automotive bearings sector will see expanded sales in Japan and the Asia
region, with particularly strong sales of hub unit bearings in China. We also anticipate that in the
automotive components sector sales of EPS systems will grow due to an increase of new car
models that adopt them. Total net sales of automotive products are expected to rise by 1.7% year
on year to ¥443.0 billion.
As for profit, the external environment, which includes rising steel prices and the negative exchange
rate impact of the appreciating yen, is expected to put strong downward pressure on operating
income. Although there are positive effects of volume growth and reduced external procurement
costs, and we will implement policies including in-house cost reduction and appropriate sales price
measures to absorb rising costs, operating income is expected to fall by 7.0% year on year to ¥28.5
billion, and the operating income margin is expected to fall to 6.4%.
[Priority Policies] In the year ending March 31, 2009, we will implement thorough measures to
enhance profitability in order to combat factors likely to weaken profits, such as rising steel prices,
the negative impact of the exchange rate, and the slowdown of the North American economy.
Specifically, we will work to reduce direct costs and to promote global procurement in order to
reduce external procurement costs, while reaping the benefits of the capital investments we have
already implemented, and aiming to stabilize production at our newly-launched NSK ABC-Bearing
plant in India and the second steering plant in North America at an early date. In addition, we will
improve productivity by continuing our Advanced Production System (APS) activities and realizing
profit benefits after the consolidation of plants so that we can respond to the reduced demand
resulting from the worsening economic environment in North America.
In addition, enhancing our ability to win orders and developing a growth foundation are important
issues in the lead-up to the next mid-term plan. We will continue to strengthen our global production
and technology infrastructure. We will also strive to win global deals by expanding the adoption
of products that meet users’ growing needs for common platforms and strategic global models,
respond to the global expansion of our Japanese customers, and aim to further expand our presence
among European and American automakers and emerging local automakers. Furthermore, EPS
systems are expected to be adopted globally in the future. We are establishing new production sites
and expanding existing facilities for EPS systems in the Americas, Europe, India and China, and will
implement full-scale global development.
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A Car Has 150 High-performance Bearings.
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[Electric Power Steering (EPS) Systems]
Faithfully Communicating the Intention of
the Driver
NSK’s EPS systems offer safe and comfortable driving
through their precision power assistance with low energy
loss, and advanced control technology which eliminates
unpleasant vibrations from the road surface. Their other
advantages include greater fuel efficiency through weight
reduction and space-saving via a more compact design.
As environment-friendly products, they are being adopted
by automakers around the world.

We’re Leading the Way in Their Development.

[Hub Unit Bearings]
Detecting Unstable Vehicular Motion
a Moment before It Happens
Around 150 automotive bearings are used in a car. Among these,
the hub unit bearings support the four wheels. NSK is the first
company in the world to successfully develop a multi-sensor hub
unit which detects three directions of force—lateral force when
cornering, forward and backward force when accelerating and
decelerating, and vertical force when the tires make contact with
the road—to detect unstable motions a moment before the vehicle
begins to slide. This hub unit contributes to the active safety of
automobiles and more advanced motion control performance.

[Automatic Transmission (AT) Components/Needle
Roller Bearings]
Adding More Gears to AT Systems
AT systems make smooth gear changes possible. As there
is strong market demand for more comfortable driving and
for energy conservation, NSK has been working on the
technical challenge of adding more gears to AT units, which
have limited space. AT systems now have as many as eight
gears, and NSK provides the important components that
make this possible, including needle roller bearings and
one-way clutches.
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Precision Machinery and Parts
Although both net sales and operating income fell due to the impact of the slowdown in the
markets for products used in semiconductors and liquid crystal production equipment, benefits
were seen from the improvements introduced in association with profitability enhancement
policies. As a result, we were able to ensure a double-digit operating income margin of 12.6%.
For the year ending March 31, 2009, both net sales and operating income are expected to
increase as a recovery trend for demand in the liquid crystal-related sector is forecast.

Market Environment and Performance for the Year Ended March 31, 2008
In the year under review, demand for products used in machine tools remained at a high level in
Japan, Europe and Asia, leading to increased sales of ball screws and other linear motion products.
On the other hand, although demand for products used in liquid crystal production equipment
recovered in the last half of the year, demand for products used in semiconductors remained in
an adjustment phase continuing from the previous fiscal year. Furthermore, sales of exposure
equipment for LCD panel production declined substantially due to the impact of the slowdown in
capital investment in Asia.
As a result, net sales of precision machinery and parts segment in the year under review decreased
12.3% year on year to ¥68.2 billion. Operating income declined 25.3% year on year to ¥8.6 billion.
Although we worked to reduce fixed costs in response to reduced production by measures such
as limiting the number of outside factory workers, this was not enough to offset the impact of the
large decline in volume. Although the operating income margin decreased by 2.2 percentage points
from the previous year, our improvements in production efficiency centered on the Maebashi Plant
had a positive effect, ensuring a double-digit operating income margin of 12.6% in spite of the large
decline in volume.
Outlook and Priority Policies for the Year Ending March 31, 2009
[Outlook] In the year ending March 31, 2009, the business environment for precision machinery
and parts segment is expected to remain inactive, as the recovery in demand for products used
in semiconductors is stalled. However, it is predicted that demand in the machine tools sector will
continue to be robust, and demand for liquid crystal production equipment sector will begin to
recover. In particular, it is expected that demand for exposure equipment for LCD panel production
will grow substantially as capital investment by our customers recovers.
As a result, total net sales for precision machinery and parts are forecast to increase by 8.5%
year on year to ¥74.0 billion. Operating income is forecast to increase 16.0% year on year to
¥10.0 billion due to increased sales resulting from the recovery in demand for exposure equipment
for LCD panel production and the contribution of our productivity improvements, including our
initiatives to streamline operations at the Maebashi and Saitama plants. We expect an operating
income margin of 13.5%.
[Priority Policies] Although precision machinery and parts are easily affected by economic
fluctuations, they make a large contribution to our income when the economy is strong, and
we are working to build a precision segment that makes a “consistent contribution to income”
as stated in the mid-term plan (FY2006—FY2008). In the year ending March 31, 2009, we will
continue to expand sales by focusing on our flagship products, linear motion products such as
ball screws and linear guides. We will also promote improvements to our market mix and enhance
our sources of income by expanding to new demand sectors such as automobiles, food-industry
products, medical equipment, transportation, etc., and using synergy effects with bearing sales
to win new customers.
Furthermore, we will aim to improve production efficiency by further extending the streamlining of
operations—a policy which has already produced good results—to the Maebashi Plant heat treatment
process and the Saitama Plant. We will work to build a business foundation that is strong enough
to withstand demand fluctuations by strengthening our sales to overseas customers, particularly in
Asian countries such as China, Taiwan, South Korea and India, and thereby expanding the scale of our
business area. Moreover, to meet demand for products used in liquid crystal production equipment
industry, which is undergoing a recovery primarily among customers in Asia, we will enhance sales
of exposure equipment for LCD panel production and strongly promote the adoption of NSK’s EGIS
technology, new exposure equipment for LCD panel production that meets users’ needs for lowering
manufacturing costs for increasingly larger LCD panels.
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1/10,000 mm Precision in Manufacturing.
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[Exposure Equipment for
LCD Panel Production]

Realizing a Large
Screen with Dramatic
Impact
Demand is increasing for
liquid crystal televisions, which
continue to grow in size. It is
the role of exposure equipment
for LCD panel production to lay
out pigments and circuits onto the
glass panels, which constitute the
liquid crystal display that projects the
image. NSK’s exposure equipment for
LCD panel production, which utilize the
proximity method, meets the needs for
high precision and large-screen production
with the capabilities of three-dimensional
control within 1/10,000-mm precision.

The Precision behind Today’s Advanced Technology.

[Semiconductor Production
Equipment]
Contributing to the
Improvement of Semiconductor
Production Equipment

[Machine Tools]
Evolving Together
with “Mother” Machines
Machine tools are machines that create machines
and are used to create a variety of industrial products.
They are referred to as “mother” machines, and they
have contributed to the development of industry.
NSK’s precision machinery and parts make the precise
motion of these machine tools possible. As important
components for the machines’ competitive performance, they
face constant demand for ever-faster speeds, higher precision and
higher reliability. By meeting these needs, NSK supports the evolution of
machine tools with its cutting-edge technology based on world-class,
ultra precision technologies.

Semiconductors, which store and
process information, are the “brains”
of a wide range of products, such as
personal computers and mobile phones.
The requirements for equipment used
in semiconductor production include
high cleanliness and excellent anticorrosive, properties to withstand
special environments. NSK is
contributing to the improvement
of semiconductor production
equipment with its cutting-edge
development capabilities.
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Research and Development
NSK’s history of over 90 years is marked by the pursuit of new technology and constant
quality improvement. Going forward, we will increase research and development activity
with the central pillars of the Company in mind, which are strengthening technology development capabilities and more fully empowering our engineers to respond to market needs.
Research and Development Policy
NSK was the first company in Japan to manufacture bearings. With technical expertise so much a part of our DNA,
we have always poured major efforts into research and
development. Each of the technologies in which NSK leads
the world, such as quiet running technology—found in the
bearings for household electrical appliances—and highspeed, high-precision technology—found in machine tool
bearings—is supported by a strong foundation in materials
technology, tribology, analysis technology and mechatronics technology. These are our core technologies, subject to

our most advanced research and development.
Changes in the business environment and globalization
are advancing swiftly. In order for research and development to rapidly and flexibly respond to such change where
it occurs, NSK has expanded regional technology centers,
forming three bases in Europe, two in the Americas, and
three in Asia, while positioning the Corporate Research &
Development Center in Japan as the center of our R&D
activities.

NSK has established a “Platform of Technology” that forms the basis of
product design for our bearings, automotive products and precision machinery and parts,
through the continued reinforcement of our “Four Core Technologies.”
This enables us to respond quickly to customer needs. Furthermore, by integrating these advanced technologies,
we are strengthening our capabilities to develop next-generation products.
Next-generation Products
Vacuum Motor Table Units
Multi-sensor Hub Unit Bearings
Electric Linear Actuator for
Automotives
Half Toroidal CVT

Industrial Machinery Bearings
Bearings for Electrical/IT Equipment

Automotive Products

Precision Machinery and Parts
Ball Screws

•Automotive Bearings

Bearings for Machine Tools

Hub Unit Bearings

Linear Guides

Bearings for Steelmaking Equipment

Needle Roller Bearings

Monocarriers

Bearings for Rail Cars

Other Automotive Bearings

Megatorque Motors

Bearings for Wind Turbines
Other Bearings for Industrial Machinery

•Automotive Components
Electric Power Steering (EPS)
Systems

XY Tables
Exposure Equipment for
LCD Panel Production

Steering Components
Automatic Transmission (AT)
Components

chnology Groups
P l a t f o r m Te

Four Core Technologies
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Tribology

Material Engineering

Analysis Technology

Mechatronics

Lubricants
(oil, grease, additive agents)
Friction Control
Functional Surface
Creation

High-strength Materials
(Steel, Resin, Ceramics)
Heat Treatment
Material Fatigue

Motion and Friction Analysis
Macro/Nano Lubrication Analysis
Machine System
Simulation

Motor, Circuit and Control Technology
Sensor Technology
Packaging Technology
Biomedical Microelectromechanical
Systems (Bio-MEMS) Technology

Topics

4
4Developing Robot Technology That Aims to Assist People

On September 2007, at the 25th Annual Conference of the Robotics Society of Japan,
NSK announced a four-legged robot with wheels instead of feet. It is capable of identifying and navigating a flight of stairs while maintaining good balance, becoming the
world’s first fully autonomous quadruped robot.
The breakthrough was achieved by integrating newly developed object recognition technology, which combines image and range sensors with advanced robot drive
technology. It is attracting a great deal of attention as new technology taking the world
closer to the realization of service robots that can provide assistance on par with
wheelchairs, guide dogs, or service dogs.

4
4Awarded Prize for Science and Technology (Development Category) by the

Japanese Minister of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology
	“Development of Technology to Extend the Working Life of Roller Bearings
for Automotive Accessories”
The bearings used for alternators or magnetic clutches fail sometimes due to premature flaking under harsh operating conditions, and it has long stood in the way of
efforts to raise automobile reliability. NSK research confirmed that this problem was
caused by chemical reaction and static electricity under the conditions of high temperature and pressure. It then developed technology to combat the deterioration. This
technology’s contribution to a lower environmental load throughout the life cycle of an
automobile led to the award.

4
4Development of Dual Pitman Arm Steer by Wire System (DPASS) Enabling
Independent Steering Control of the Left and Right Front Wheels

NSK has developed the Dual Pitman Arm Steer by wire System (DPASS) and exhibited
it at the 40th Tokyo Motor Show 2007. Utilizing information from multi-sensor hub unit
bearings, the DPASS controls steering of the left and right front wheels independently
of each other. In addition to expanding cabin space, enhancing fuel economy and
safety, it makes possible advanced active steering control, which may lead to automated driving in the future.

4
4Development of High-strength Biodegradable Plastic
with Superior Heat Resistance

Biodegradable plastic is increasingly used in everyday consumer goods. NSK has
developed a high-strength, biodegradable plastic with superior heat resistance. It
presented sample bearings complete with cages and seals made of this plastic in
January 2008. This high-strength biodegradable plastic is adaptable to a wide array
of applications.

Intellectual Property-related Activities
In order to secure operating revenue and develop the business, NSK protects new products
developed with its original technology under a strong network of patents. NSK has established a long tradition of active patent application filing. With its domestic public disclosures
totaling 1,467 in fiscal 2007, NSK has long maintained the lead in corporate patent applications in the mechanical parts field. NSK concentrates not only on filing of patents for original
technologies, but also on improving the quality of existing patented technologies through
close coordination between technology departments and the intellectual property department. As a result, NSK holds many registered patents, including 1,427 in Japan and 2,008
outside Japan, and utilizes these intellectual property rights effectively as a management
resource for NSK’s global business. Furthermore, in order to maintain the credit and development of the NSK brand, which is another important intellectual property, NSK promotes
company-wide measures in collaboration with relevant authorities to combat counterfeit
products in various countries.

4
4Published Patent Applications (Japan)
Precision Machinery and Parts
Automotive Components
1,502 1,467
Bearings

1,400

1,174

1,243

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
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Social and Environmental Activities
Basic Philosophy of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
NSK products play a vital role in society wherever things are
required to move. They are used in products ranging from
electrical appliances, such as vacuum cleaners and washers, to transportation equipment such as automobiles, trains
and aircraft. In the manufacturing and construction sectors
they are used in production equipment, machine tools, industrial robots and construction machinery. NSK recognizes
that it can meet an important social need by contributing to
environmental protection and the betterment of the human
condition by developing highly reliable products that help to
reduce energy loss.
Under its mission statement, which was adopted in
1991, “NSK aims to contribute to the well-being and safety
of societies and to protect the global environment through

its innovative technology integrating Motion & Control. We
are guided by our vision of NSK as a truly international enterprise, and are working across national boundaries to improve relationships between people throughout the world.”
This statement is the foundation for our CSR activities, the
aim of which is to build harmony with society and work as
a good partner toward a more prosperous future. In June
2007, we elevated the CSR Project Team to a permanent
CSR Office and strengthened its activities. We unified the
IR Office and CSR Office in June 2008, and the new IR &
CSR Office is continually working to build awareness of our
mission throughout the NSK Group, and to implement measures from medium-term and long-term perspectives.

NSK and Society

4
4Employees Volunteer to Teach Children’s
Science Classes

As part of its social contribution activities, NSK has responded to concern about declining interest in science among
Japanese children by hosting the Children’s Science Class
program. This program is based on NSK’s unique capabilities as a manufacturer.
The classes, which are taught by NSK employees holding doctorate degrees, are open to participants in the Kanagawa Science Summer program run by Kanagawa Prefecture, and members of the Science Club established by
the Science Museum in Tokyo’s Chiyoda Ward. The aim of
the program is to stimulate intellectual curiosity in children
who are just beginning to take an interest
in science. A challenge for the students
was to use experimental equipment by
themselves to estimate how many children it would take to move the Great
Buddha of Kamakura. The children have
fun performing the experiments and enjoy acquiring new knowledge, such as
understanding the meaning of the Newton (N) as a unit of force.

4
4Sponsoring a High School Robotics Team
in the United States

NSK Precision America (NPA)
recently supported local high
school students with their entry in a robotics competition. In
addition to providing technical
advice, NPA also donated linear
guides to the project.
The students were from Center Grove High School in Greenwood, Indiana and formed
a team named “The Red Alert,” which was one of approximately 1,500 teams participating in the FIRST (For Inspiration and Recognition of Science and Technology) competition. The performance of their robot arm was a key factor in
the competition, and the team was looking for components
to ensure smooth motion. NPA engineers selected linear
guides as the most suitable parts, and these were donated.
The students visited NPA’s Franklin Plant to receive the linear guides and tour the facilities. This opportunity to view
the plant’s production lines, experimental laboratories and
other facilities appeared to inspire a keen interest in linear
motion products.

Major Social Contribution Activities
Japan
• Traffic safety patrols for children walking to and from school

Ishibe, Shiga Prefecture

Overseas
• Participation in charity volleyball tournament for sick children

Canada

• NSK-sponsored lectures at a university in Colombia

Colombia

• Bearing technology seminars at Can Tho University, Department of Technology, and at Ho Chi Minh City University of Technology Vietnam
• Contributions to local healthcare (blood donations)

Poland

• Riverside clean-up campaign

Malaysia

• Mangrove planting

Thailand

For more information on NSK’s social and environmental activities, please refer to the NSK CSR Report 2008.
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Environmental Management Organization
Consisting of senior management, the Global Environment
Protection Committee is the NSK Group’s highest decisionmaking body for management of environmental issues. Its
seven specialist subcommittees and the Global Environment Department formulate action plans and monitor activities. Environmental units have also been established at
business sites in Japan and overseas, including not only
plants, but also the development and design division, sales
and marketing division and the administration division within

the head office. Their role is to consolidate environmental
initiatives at the workplace level.
Since its establishment in 1993, the Global Environment
Protection Committee has built a record of achievement. In
addition to the formulation of environmental policies and the
sharing of environmental data, it also deliberates on specific action plans and environmental measures and monitors
progress made toward the achievement of targets. It holds
three regular meetings each year.

Global Environment Protection Committee
President

Manufacturing Subcommittee

Energy Saving, Waste Reduction,
Environmentally Harmful Substance Reduction

Product Development
Subcommittee

Environmental Product, Resource Saving

Development and
Design Division

Japanese Plants

Regional Manager,
Overseas Plants

Environment Officer (Chairman)
Administrative
Subcommittee

Logistics, Green Office

Sales and Marketing
Division

Global Environment Department

Environment Management Office,
Chemical Substance Management Office

Administrative Department
of Head Office

Plant Managers, Officers of Affiliate Companies:
General Representatives for Environmental Management, General Representatives for Environmentally Harmful Substance Reduction
In-house Environment Auditors
Environment Management
Committee

Environmentally Harmful Substance
Reduction Committee

Technology Coordinator

Environmentally Harmful Substance
Reduction Representatives

Environment Management
Representatives

Plant Coordinator

Environment Coordinator

Energy Saving Subcommittee
Waste Reduction
Subcommittee
Environmentally Harmful
Reduction Substance
Subcommittee

Environmental Protection Initiatives

4
4Reducing CO2 Emissions

4
4Contributing to the Environment through

NSK aims to reduce its CO2 emissions per production unit
by 1% annually relative to the fiscal 1990 level. We have consistently surpassed this target. However, in recent years, calls
for the absolute reduction of CO2 emissions have increased,
in order to ensure that global warming will be prevented. Fiscal 2008 will be the initial year of the first commitment period
under the Kyoto Protocol. In addition to its unit targets, NSK
has decided to adopt a new target for overall reduction of its
CO2 emissions, independent of production levels.
Our current corporate policy is to prevent increases in
CO2 emissions, even if our production volumes increase
due to business growth. Our first target is to reduce emissions in fiscal 2012 to below the fiscal 2006 level. We aim to
achieve this target through aggressive investment, including the installation of the most advanced, environmentally
friendly facilities, and through determined efforts to eliminate
waste. We will also implement group-wide improvement initiatives encompassing all of our plants.

Our Products

NSK’s core products are bearings, automotive components
and precision machinery and parts for use in machinery and
equipment ranging from motor vehicles to electrical and electronic devices. To enhance the performance of our products,
we work to reduce friction, size and weight while improving
durability. When our products are used in motor vehicles,
electrical machinery and other applications, these efforts
translate directly into improvements in energy efficiency and
reductions in resource consumption. We believe therefore
that NSK can best contribute to the environment by developing and supplying better products.
We are also aware that growing public concern for environmental problems will necessitate the development of
products that have a stronger environmental focus. In fiscal
2007, we began to formulate environmental contribution targets for our products. By fiscal 2009, we aim to establish
a numerical Eco-efficiency Factor comparing all new NSK
products with earlier products.

High Valuation from Representative SRI Indices
NSK has been selected for inclusion in the following socially responsible investment (SRI) indices (as of March 31, 2008).

Dow Jones
Sustainability Indexes

FTSE4Good
Global Index

Ethibel
Sustainability Indexes

Morningstar Socially
Responsible Investment Index

http://www.sustainability-indexes.com

http://www.ftse.com/Indices/
FTSE4Good_Index_Series/index.jsp

http://www.ethibel.org/index.html

http://www.morningstar.co.jp
/sri/index.htm
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Corporate Governance
Corporate Governance

4
4Basic Philosophy

Audit Office, which audits the legality, appropriateness and

NSK defines corporate governance as a structure by which

efficiency of business operations, proposes improvement

the executive organization focuses on business expansion

measures and provides guidance based on the audit results,
and the Compliance Division-Headquarters, which plans

and profitability improvement under the supervision of the
Board of Directors. This philosophy is the essence of our Cor-

and implements policies to ensure compliance with laws,

porate Governance Code, under which we are reinforcing our

regulations and business ethics, while monitoring progress

governance systems through the implementation of the fol-

toward the application of these policies. Also involved is the

lowing policies. Firstly, the Board of Directors has delegated

Corporate Strategy Division-Headquarters, which is primarily
responsible for the control of management risk. It plans and

more authority to the executive organization to improve management mobility. Secondly, the supervisory and executive
organizations are working closely to strengthen supervisory
functions. Thirdly, monitoring of business operation performance is being strengthened.

implements management policies, monitors progress toward
their application and strengthens and enhances internal control systems across the entire NSK Group.

4
4Compliance with J-SOX

4
4Corporate Governance Structure

tions of the NSK Group in its assigned areas. We are improving the group-wide internal control structure by establishing
NSK Group Management Rules that apply across the entire
NSK Group. Basic principles are set forth in the Management
Rules to serve as the framework of Group management and

Under the new Financial Instruments and Exchange Law,
which was enacted in 2006, companies are required to apply
internal control reporting systems, starting with the accounting
year beginning in April 2008. This system is the Japanese version of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) Act and is commonly
known as “J-SOX.”
The new system requires listed companies to establish
systems to ensure the accuracy of their financial statements
and disclosure items, and to evaluate the effectiveness of
these systems. Managers are required to prepare and submit
internal control reports on a yearly basis.
NSK is working globally to develop internal control systems
relating to financial reporting, to strengthen the implementation of those systems, and to develop evaluation mechanisms.
In April 2006, we formed the Internal Control Project Team in
the head office with the mission of strengthening its internal
control systems and coordinating related activities throughout
NSK Group. Sub-teams have also been established within regional headquarters and individual NSK Group companies.
We also see compliance with the internal control system
reporting requirements as an opportunity to further improve
the quality of our management. In addition to measures to
ensure the accuracy of our financial statements and disclosure items, we will also standardize and improve the efficien-

internal control systems.
NSK has further strengthened and enhanced its internal
control systems by establishing several organizational units
within its corporate headquarters. These include the Internal

cy of the management and operations of group companies
from a global perspective. We see these efforts as an important step toward the realization of our goal “To Become No.1
in Total Quality.”

NSK has strengthened its governance structure by adopting
the “Company with Committees” system. We have established a sound and highly transparent management structure
based on clearly defined executive and supervisory roles.
• Operational

Executive Functions

	The CEO makes decisions with the assistance of the Operating Committee. The Executive Officers in charge put
these decisions into action.
• Supervisory

Functions

	The Board of Directors makes decisions on fundamental
management policies and supervises the activities of executive officers. It maintains an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nomination Committee, each
consisting of two independent directors and one non-independent director.

4
4Internal Control Systems
Each business division is responsible for the global opera-

NSK’s Corporate Governance Structure

General Shareholders’ Meeting

Representative Executive Officer (CEO)
<Operational Structure>

Operational Committee

<Internal Control Structure>

Internal Audit Office
Compliance Division-Headquarters
Risk Management Committee

Executive Officer Meeting
Corporate Strategy Division-Headquarters
Internal Control Project Team
Disclosure Committee
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Board of Directors
<Oversight Structure>

Audit Committee
Compensation Committee
Nomination Committee

Compliance

4
4Basic Philosophy

for personnel at specific levels, from new employees to senior

NSK regards compliance with laws, regulations and its corpo-

management. In fiscal 2007, NSK also provided training for all

rate rules as one of its fundamental management objectives.

executives and employees (including temporary employees)

NSK’s ongoing efforts in this area reflect the importance that
NSK places on compliance in terms of earning the trust of all

of NSK Group companies in Japan via e-learning or booklets.

its stakeholders and maximizing its corporate value. This phi-

NSK also actively provided worksite seminars addressing
specific subjects, including three sessions on the prevention

losophy forms the basis of the NSK Code of Corporate Ethics,

of insider trading and 21 sessions on anti-trust laws.

which defines the following policies on corporate ethics.
1. NSK aims to continue to prosper as a company that can
be respected and trusted, by being sincere and fair within
international and regional societies.
2. NSK will comply with laws that are related to its various
corporate activities. Moreover, as a corporate citizen, NSK
will conduct itself in the highest ethical manner.

4
4Compliance Structures and Endeavors
In 2004, NSK established Compliance Division-Headquarters
as a specialist organization responsible for the formulation
of regulations, compliance education, and auditing. In fiscal
2007, NSK completed the introduction of ethical rules at all
NSK Group companies in Japan and overseas, based on the
NSK Code of Corporate Ethics that was formulated in 2002.
Endeavors designed to ensure that all members of the
NSK Group are fully informed about and compliant with the
NSK Code of Corporate Ethics include educational programs

NSK has also established an in-house “Hotline” for reporting improper activity, to ensure early detection and appropriate action regarding any violations of laws, regulations
or corporate rules. Employees of NSK Group companies and
of NSK’s component suppliers and subcontractors in Japan
can use this system to report problems to either the Compliance Division-Headquarters or to an independent attorney
outside of the corporate organization.
Reports can be made anonymously, and
the system is designed
to ensure that those
reporting problems will
not be disadvantaged.

Compliance Education
through E-learning

Risk Management

4
4Basic Philosophy

4
4Initiatives in the Year Ended March 2008

When determining actions to be taken in the event of a natu-

There have been numerous major disasters in Japan and

ral disaster or other crisis situation, NSK Group gives first priority to the protection of human life. We are also continually
enhancing our risk management systems with the aim of protecting our customers’ business operations from the effects
of these contingencies by ensuring that we can continue to

overseas in recent years. These events have further underscored the importance of risk management.
NSK is continually improving its risk management measures. Our main initiative in the year ended March 2008 was
the formulation of a business continuity plan (BCP). This

supply products stably.

project included the development of action guidelines in the
event of a major disaster in the Tokyo area, where our corporate head office, the central hub of NSK Group is located.
We have implemented a range of measures based on these
guidelines, including the planning of large-scale drills under
the leadership of senior management and the development
of a management system to handle emergency supplies
stockpiled in our head office.
In addition to our responsibility for ensuring the safety of
our employees and their families in the event of a disaster, we

4
4Risk Management Structure
Our risk management structure centers around the Risk Management Committee, which was established in 2002 under
the direct supervision of the President. This committee devises and implements preventative measures based on various
risk scenarios, including major earthquakes, fires, environmental contamination and epidemics. In risk situations, it will
quickly assess the threat and provide appropriate directives.
Another task performed by the Risk Management Committee is the compilation of the Risk Management Manual.
This document stipulates risk prevention measures and
appropriate actions when risk situations occur. It is also
used to educate all employees about the importance of
risk management.

also have a responsibility to respond promptly to contingencies so that we can continue to supply products to our customers. The Risk Management Committee is the central pillar
for strengthening disaster preparedness through measures
that include the maintenance of back-up systems for head
office functions, the development of emergency manuals for
our factories and the establishment of emergency communication and information sharing mechanisms.
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Response Measures to Large-scale Share Purchases
The following is an explanation of the major points regard-

depth expertise based on our long history, and by deepening

ing the “Response Measures to Large-scale Purchases of

our relationships with stakeholders. We believe that manage-

the Company’s Shares (Takeover Defense)” approved by our
shareholders at the June 25, 2008 Annual Shareholders’

ment based on a proper understanding of these factors is
essential for sustainable growth in the future.

Meeting.

Given these management policies, we believe that if a
large-scale purchase of NSK’s shares is commenced, it is

4
4The NSK Group’s Mission

important to prevent damage to the corporate value of NSK

The NSK Group is built upon mutual relationships of trust

and its shareholders’ common interests. There is a need to

with all of its stakeholders. We believe that the Group’s mis-

ensure that the Board of Directors can secure sufficient information and time to evaluate and examine the purchaser’s

sion is to enhance its corporate value by devoting itself to its
main business while fulfilling its social responsibilities to all
stakeholders by keeping its operations optimally balanced in
all aspects of society, environment and economy.

4
4Toward Achievement of the Mission
In order to achieve this mission, NSK has set out a vision
for its mid-term plan (FY2006–FY2008) “To Become No. 1
in Total Quality.” This encompasses the quality of all services
in addition to the quality of products, which is the foundation
of NSK’s reputation as a manufacturer. To realize this vision,
the entire group is working on a variety of business issues.
We are aiming for profitability-focused growth and striving
to become a company that is competitive regardless of its
scale, centering on the two core policies of driving forward
with growth strategies and profitability enhancement.
Furthermore, while aiming for sustainable growth, NSK
has built a corporate governance structure that aims to increase the transparency and soundness of management—
through, for example, the independent director system which
was introduced relatively early in 1999.

4
4NSK’s View of Large-scale Share Purchases
NSK intends to fulfill its mission in the aforementioned ways.
However, if a large-scale purchaser commences a sudden
purchase without providing sufficient information or time, our
shareholders may not be able to make accurate judgments
on the matter. Furthermore, we cannot rule out the possibility
that some of these large-scale share purchasers may have
no intention of managing the company in a reasonable way,
and this could make it difficult to achieve NSK’s mission to
enhance its corporate value.
As noted under “Key Management Tasks” in the Annual
Report 2007, page 43, we believe that decisions regarding
large-scale share purchases should be ultimately left to the
judgment of shareholders.
Since its foundation in 1916, the NSK Group has consistently supplied the world with bearings (commonly called
“the staple of industry”), automotive products and precision
machinery and parts. We are advancing our business by
building up abundant experience and a wide range of in-
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proposal, form an opinion and elaborate alternative proposals and accordingly the shareholders can make an appropriate judgment with regard to the purchase by reaching a sufficient understanding of the proposals and opinions of both
NSK’s Board of Directors and the purchaser.

4
4Introduction of Response Measures
NSK established the “Basic Policy regarding Persons Controlling the Company’s Decisions over Financial and Business
Policies” by resolution of the Board of Directors’ meeting on
April 23, 2008 and, by obtaining approval from its shareholders at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, introduced response
measures applicable to a purchase of NSK’s shares exceeding
a certain scale.

4
4Substance of the Response Measures
NSK’s response measures are not intended to block all largescale share purchases; they stipulate certain rules that apply
when a large-scale share purchaser conducts a purchase.
For example, NSK will require the purchaser to comply with
procedures stipulated in advance. Regarding whether or not
NSK should trigger countermeasures, as a general rule, we
will hold a Shareholders’ Meeting and ask the shareholders to
make that judgment. In an exceptional case, however, such
countermeasures can be triggered by a unanimous resolution
by the Board of Directors including the independent directors,
only in the case that a large-scale share purchaser conducts
a purchase without complying with the Large-scale Share
Purchase Rules or in which such a large-scale purchase falls
under each of certain limited conditions.
We believe that these response measures sufficiently respect the will of our shareholders and investors, and satisfy
transparent and objective conditions.

Flow Chart of the Response Measures

Emergence of a Large-scale Share Purchaser (a purchaser attempting to hold 20% or greater of the voting rights)
In the case that the large-scale share purchaser complies with
the Large-scale Share Purchase Rules

Large-scale Share PurchaserPresident and CEO:
Submits “Statement of Intention”
Within 10 business days

Board of DirectorsLarge-scale Share Purchaser:
Sends the List for the Necessary Information
Advice on sufficiency of
the List of Necessary
Information

In the case that the
Large-scale Share
Purchaser does not
comply with the
Large-scale Share
Purchase Rules

Large-scale Share PurchaserPresident and CEO:
Provides the Necessary Information
External
Experts

The Board of Directors’ Evaluation

s Evaluates and examines the proposal of large-scale share purchase,
negotiates with the large-scale share purchaser, forms an opinion on
the large-scale share purchase and/or elaborates alternative proposals
s Evaluation period: up to 60 days (for purchase of all of NSK’s shares via

Advice on
appropriateness of
the countermeasure

TOB in JPY) or up to 90 days (for any other large-scale share purchase).
Up to additional 30 days by unanimous resolution of the board

Board of Directors’ disclosure of its opinion on the large-scale share purchase



NSK Shareholders’ Meeting
Resolution on whether or not to trigger countermeasures
(allotment of share options without contribution)
Voted Down

No countermeasures triggered
(commencement of large-scale share purchase)

By a unanimous
resolution of the
Board of Directors,
including the
independent directors



Passed

Countermeasures triggered
(allotment of share options without contribution)

* The Board of Directors of NSK may trigger countermeasures in the following cases, provided however that this
decision to trigger countermeasures shall be made by a unanimous resolution of the Board of Directors, including the
independent directors.
 When the large-scale share purchaser does not comply with the Large-scale Share Purchase Rules
 When the large-scale share purchase falls under each of the four categories identified by the High Court in the
Nippon Broadcasting System, Inc. takeover case, or constitutes a coercive “two-step purchase,” and the
large-scale share purchase would materially harm the NSK’s corporate value and shareholders’ common interests.

* For more details of “Response Measures to Large-scale Share Purchase,
please refer to “Investors” on our web site.

http://www.nsk.com/investors/more_history.html
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Management Team

As of June 25, 2008

Board of Directors
From left

(front row)

Norio Otsuka

(back row)

Seiichi Asaka

Hisashi Machida

Michio Ueno, Independent Director: Chairman, Avanti Staff Corp.

		

Toyohiko Sanari, Independent Director: Certified Public Accountant

		

Kaoru Muramoto

		

Tamotsu Iba, Independent Director: Advisor, Sony Financial Holdings Inc.

		

Hiromu Okabe, Independent Director: Senior Advisor to the Board, DENSO CORPORATION

Masao Shoji

Michio Hara

Mitsuo Degawa

Executive Officers
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Seiichi Asaka*
Senior Executive
Vice Presidents

Hisashi Machida*
Norio Otsuka*
Executive Vice Presidents

Michio Hara*
Mitsuo Degawa
Masao Shoji
Kazuo Matsuda

*Representative Executive Officers
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Nobuyoshi Abe

Group Officers
Senior Vice Presidents

Vice Presidents

Akira Tanikawa
Nobuyoshi Abe
Toshihide Shimbo
Ryoichi Saito
Yukio Takebe
Shuichi Kobayashi
Yoshio Shoda
Tsutomu Komori
Hideyuki Shibamoto
Shinichiro Takahashi
Yoshio Saito
Naoki Mitsue

Masakazu Aijima
Tatsuo Ichikawa
Yujiro Otsubo
Hirokazu Takeoka
Kunio Kawashima
Keisuke Takagawa
Takashi Tonotsuka
Kihichi Isogai
Katsumi Kuwabara
Kazuo Nagatake
Norbert Schneider
Takanao Miki
Masahide Matsubara
Takashi Ishida
Toshiyuki Nagashima
Toshihiro Uchiyama

Yoichi Uyama
Toyoaki Yano
Yukio Mitsuhashi
Toshiyuki Nakayama
Nozomu Matsuo
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Eleven-year Summary
NSK Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

2008

2007

2006

2005

¥772,036

¥717,225

¥628,474

¥580,989

702,692

654,842

585,922

542,706

Operating income

69,343

62,383

42,552

38,283

Other income (expenses)

(5,730)

(5,346)

516

(3,251)

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests

63,613

57,037

43,068

35,031

Income taxes

19,173

20,198

16,412

11,601

Net income (loss)

42,613

34,853

25,586

22,349

Capital expenditures (excluding intangible assets)

51,971

36,216

47,293

36,912

Depreciation and amortization

38,380

35,316

30,099

27,435

R&D expenditures

10,240

10,100

9,728

9,806

Cash flows from operating activities (A)

69,236

64,153

66,332

57,987

Cash flows from investing activities (B)

(23,187)

(64,600)

(62,386)

(31,638)

Free cash flows (A)+(B)

46,049

(447)

3,946

26,349

Current assets

404,412

389,067

313,569

278,678

Non-current assets

424,167

426,721

429,462

349,905

Total assets

828,580

815,788

743,032

628,583

Current liabilities

294,318

297,489

266,834

234,300

Long-term liabilities

250,486

241,571

228,373

194,420

Net assets

283,775

276,727

247,823

199,861

Total liabilities and net assets

828,580

815,788

743,032

628,583

25,069

23,413

22,639

20,737

Year ended March 31

For the year:
Net sales
Cost of sales and SGA expenses

At year-end:

Number of employees
Per share (Yen):
Net income (loss)
Net assets

¥

78.84
495.61

¥

64.53
485.62

¥

47.28
436.48

¥

41.35
349.07

Ratios:
Gross profit margin

23.1%

23.2%

22.4%

22.5%

Operating income margin

9.0

8.7

6.8

6.6

SGA expenses/net sales

14.1

14.5

15.6

15.9

Net income margin

5.5

4.9

4.1

3.8

Return on average assets (ROA)

5.2

4.5

3.7

3.6

16.1

14.0

12.1

11.9

Return on average shareholders’ equity (ROE)
Ratio of net worth to total capital

32.3

32.2

31.7

30.0

Asset turnover (times)

0.94

0.92

0.92

0.93

Inventory turnover (times)

7.5

7.0

6.9

7.4

Net D/E ratio (times)

0.56

0.69

0.73

0.89

Interest coverage (times)

11.0

11.3

15.0

11.3
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Millions of yen
(Unless otherwise specified)

2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

1998

¥ 522,217

¥ 522,820

¥480,902

¥533,144

¥486,539

¥472,614

¥493,151

496,245

504,972

476,954

507,303

471,837

459,622

470,380

25,972

17,847

3,947

25,841

14,701

12,992

22,771

479

(19,974)

(14,271)

(2,528)

(6,101)

(21,312)

(35,166)

26,451

(2,127)

(10,324)

23,312

8,599

(8,319)

(12,395)

11,473

970

7,181

11,132

4,932

(3,696)

2,872

14,293

(2,670)

(17,696)

11,425

2,798

(4,094)

(15,173)

25,502

23,010

36,183

33,872

26,701

24,157

33,373

26,909

28,812

27,536

26,210

26,349

26,155

26,073

8,722

8,307

8,036

9,268

8,777

13,800

12,700

37,889

30,961

30,331

24,444

20,371

—

—

(16,958)

(16,223)

(34,372)

(19,714)

15,244

—

—

20,931

14,738

(4,041)

4,730

35,615

—

—

295,491

285,749

291,490

321,575

392,459

389,091

417,188

326,386

307,349

351,332

358,881

247,631

257,212

257,361

621,877

593,098

642,823

680,457

640,090

646,303

674,549

245,588

227,314

239,378

261,952

282,719

243,544

289,045

175,548

183,481

182,455

179,749

160,951

199,395

169,766

200,739

182,302

220,989

238,755

196,419

203,362

215,736

621,877

593,098

642,823

680,457

640,090

646,303

674,549

19,772

20,351

22,337

23,283

24,295

22,482

22,322

(5.22)

¥ (31.79)

(7.27)

¥ (26.92)

316.27

378.03

353.29

387.18

¥

26.12
349.83

¥

¥

20.35
405.12

¥

4.98
333.57

¥

21.5%

19.6%

18.1%

19.7%

19.1%

19.3%

20.7%

5.0

3.4

0.8

4.8

3.0

2.7

4.6

16.5

16.2

17.3

14.8

16.1

16.6

16.1

2.7

(0.5)

(3.7)

2.1

0.6

(0.9)

(3.1)

2.4

(0.4)

(2.7)

1.7

0.4

(0.6)

(2.2)

8.0

(1.4)

(8.1)

5.5

1.5

(2.0)

(7.0)

30.3

28.8

32.4

33.4

29.3

30.7

31.1

0.86

0.85

0.73

0.81

0.76

0.72

0.72

6.6

5.8

4.8

5.2

4.6

4.3

4.7

0.99

1.22

1.04

0.88

1.07

1.20

1.29

6.1

4.1

4.2

2.5

2.0

—

—
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Six-year Segment Information
NSK Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Millions of yen

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

¥239,056

¥216,338

¥195,556

¥185,473

¥176,299

—

435,705

397,863

353,124

316,169

285,830

—

Precision machinery and parts

68,186

77,719

65,831

64,186

47,072

—

Others

29,087

25,303

13,962

15,160

13,015

—

772,036

717,225

628,474

580,989

522,217

—

—

—

—

¥332,826

¥321,960

Year ended March 31

•Sales by Business Segment

*1, *2

Industrial machinery bearings
Automotive products

Total

•Sales by Business Segment (Previous Segments) *1

Bearings

—

Automotive components

—

—

—

—

129,303

150,663

Precision machinery and parts

—

—

—

—

47,072

34,898

Others

—

—

—

—

13,016

15,297

Total

—

—

—

—

522,217

522,820

—

—

—

—

•Increase/Decrease from Previous Year *1

Industrial machinery bearings

10.5%

Automotive products
Precision machinery and parts
Others

10.6%
12.7

9.5

5.4%
11.7

5.2%
10.6

–12.3

18.1

2.6

36.4

—

—

15.0

81.2

– 7.9

16.5

—

—

7.6

14.1

8.2

11.3

—

—

Total

•Increase/Decrease from Previous Year (Previous Segments) *1

Bearings

—

—

—

—

Automotive components

—

—

—

—

3.4%
–14.2

6.5%
17.6

Precision machinery and parts

—

—

—

—

34.9

2.7

Others

—

—

—

—

–14.9

– 6.7

Total

—

—

—

—

– 0.1

8.7

¥364,395

¥330,062

¥310,247

•Sales by Region (Based on Customer Location)

Japan

¥388,929

¥278,646

¥279,261

The Americas

107,321

105,111

92,367

82,279

74,885

81,785

Europe

133,853

121,698

98,165

93,625

85,391

81,418

Asia

141,933

126,021

107,880

94,838

83,295

80,356

Total

772,036

717,225

628,474

580,989

522,217

522,820

6.4%

11.3%

– 0.2%

8.4%

– 8.4

6.9

•Increase/Decrease from Previous Year

Japan

6.7%

10.4%

The Americas

2.1

13.8

12.3

9.9

Europe

10.0

24.0

4.8

9.6

4.9

5.8

Asia

12.6

16.8

13.8

13.9

3.7

15.1

Total

7.6

14.1

8.2

11.3

– 0.1

8.7

*1 NSK has reorganized its corporate structure from a product-oriented to a customer-oriented organization. In line with this change, the Company changed its business segmentation
effective the year ended March 31, 2005.
*2 Sales by business segment for the year ended March 31, 2004 have been restated in accordance with the change of segments.

4436

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Business Results and Financial Position

Analysis of Business Results for the Year Ended March 31, 2008
1. Scope of Consolidation

300

The consolidated financial statements reflect the financial performance of NSK Ltd. and its 87 consolidated
Gross Profit Margin,
Operating Income,
subsidiaries
(23 in Japan and
64 overseas). NSK’s investments
17 affiliates
(10 in Japan and seven
SGA Expenses/Net
Sales
Operating in
Income
Margin
(%) are accounted for by the equity method.
(¥ Billions)
（%）
overseas)
30
10
100
In the year under review, the number of NSK consolidated subsidiaries increased
by five from the
9.0
8.7
previous year, as a result of the addition of three newly established subsidiaries, including one production
23.2 23.1
8 to a change in
company in21.5
India,22.5
and22.4
the transfer of two subsidiaries 80
from equity method affiliates due
6.8
69.3
6.6
the percentage
of
share
ownership.
The
number
of
equity
method
affiliates
decreased
by two from the
20
62.4
6 a change in the
previous year, as a result of the transfer of two affiliates to60consolidated
subsidiaries
due
to
5.0
percentage 16.5
of share
ownership, the addition of one newly established affiliate, and the decrease of one
15.9 15.6
42.6
14.5 14.1
38.3
4
40
affiliate due to a share transfer.

200

2. Overview of the Year Ended March 31, 2008

Net Sales
(¥ Billions)

800

772.0
717.2

700
628.5
581.0

600
500

522.2

400

10

100
0

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

Gross Profit Margin,
SGA Expenses/Net Sales
(%)

30

72.0

Net Income,
22.5 22.4
21.5
Net Income Margin

23.2

23.1

20
(¥ Billions)

（%）

60
16.5
50
10

20

15.6

4.9
14.5

5

14.1

4.1

42.6
4
34.9

2.7

30

08/3

15.9
3.8

40

0

6

5.5

3

25.6

22.3

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

2

14.3 Gross Profit Margin

SGA Expenses/Net Sales 1

10
0

0

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

（%）

100
ROE
and ROA
（%）

(%)

6

20
80

23.1
5.5

5

42.6

14.1

10

8
6.6

6.8

69.3
16.1

Capital Expenditures,
62.4
14.0
15
60
Depreciation
and Amortization6
5.0
(¥ Billions)

3

60
40
10

2

50
20

11.9

38.3

0
30
0
20
10
0

2.4

12.1
42.6

4
52.0

8.0
26.0

40
5

08/3
n
0
08/3
Sales

[right]

8.7

4

1

9.0

47.3
3.6
36.9

3.7

4.5
36.2 35.3

5.2
38.4

30.1
04/3 05/3
27.4 06/3 07/3 08/3

25.5

26.9

Operating Income [left]

0

2

0

04/3 05/3
06/3Income
07/3 Margin
08/3 [right]
Operating

Capital Expenditures

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

growth of ¥24.5 billion, or 6.7%, to ¥388.9 billion (US$3,889 million). Overseas sales increased by ¥30.3
Flows
billion,Cash
or 8.6%,
year on year to ¥383.1 billion (US$3,831 million). Excluding exchange rate fluctuations, the
(¥ Billions)
increase
was
¥14.9
billion,
or 4.2%.
69.2
66.3
70
58.0

64.2

Interest-Bearing
Debt,
4. Cost
50 of Sales, Selling, General and Administrative Expenses, and Operating Income
Ratio sales
of Netincreased
Worth to from
Total¥551.1
Capitalbillion in the Asset
Turnover,
The cost of37.9
previous year to ¥593.7 billion (US$5,937 million)
Inventory Turnover
30

in the
year ended March 31,20.9
2008. The
ratio of cost (Times)
of sales to net sales increased(Times)
by 0.1 percentage
(¥ Billions)
(%)
10
50
1.0
300
0.94
point to
76.9%.
7.6
0.93
10
0.92 0.92
0.86
264.4 expenses amounted to
Selling, general and administrative
¥109.0
billion
(US$1,090
million), compared
255.6
-5.9
-10 246.5
with ¥103.8
billion in the previous year.
general and administrative8 expenses to net
40 The ratio of selling,
0.8
222.9
-17.0
-20.7
207.2
-23.2point to 14.1%.
sales improved
by
0.4 percentage
-30
7.4
7.5
200
-31.6
7.0
6.9
As a result, consolidated 32.2
operating
income grew by 0.6
¥7.0 billion,
or 11.2%,
year on year
6.6
6 to ¥69.3 billion
32.3 30
31.7
-50
30.3 30.0
-46.1
(US$693
million).
The
consolidated operating income margin improved by 0.3 percentage point to 9.0%.
-70
100

-62.4 -64.6

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

20

Cash from operating activities
10
Cash from investing activities
Cash from financing activities

ROE
ROA

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

-70

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

Cash from operating activities
ROE
Net sales increased by ¥54.8 billion, or 7.6% year on year, to ¥772.0
(US$7,720
million). Excluding
Cash billion
from investing
activities
ROA
exchange rate fluctuations, the increase was ¥39.4 billion, or 5.5%.
Sales
in Japanactivities
showed year-on-year
Cash
from financing

Operating Income Margin
(¥ Billions)

2

The global economy in the year ended March 31, 2008 remained robust overall. However, in addition to
high crude oil prices and raw material costs, financial uncertainty stemming from the subprime loan crisis
0
0
0
has impacted
upon
real 07/3
economy
04/3
05/3the06/3
08/3 and brought about economical
04/3 05/3 uncertainty.
06/3 07/3 The
08/3 Japanese economy
continued to grow,
backed
by an increase in exports, although consumer
spending
Operating Income
[left] and capital expendiGross
Profit Margin
Margin [right]
SGAthe
Expenses/Net
ture stayed flat and
economy Sales
slowed in the latter half of the Operating
year. TheIncome
U.S. economy
was negatively
affected by a slump in housing investment and a slowdown in consumer spending and capital expenditure.
Operating Income,
Economies
in the Income
EU and Margin
U.K. exhibited steady recovery. In Asia, the economy continued to expand in
Operating
China(¥ and
Billions)other countries in the region.
（%）
10
100 the company’s business segments,
Among
the precision machinery and parts segment was negatively
9.0
8.7
affected by a decline in demand from semiconductor and liquid crystal production equipment manufac8
turers. 80
However, in the industrial machinery
bearings and automotive products segments, NSK Group’s
6.8
ROE and ROA
Cash Flows
6.6 continued to 69.3
manufacturing sites
operate at high levels worldwide due to global economic expansion and
(%)
(¥ Billions)
62.4
69.2
6 demand from70
an increase
in orders, backed by growing
emerging markets
60
66.3 such
20
64.2 as China and India.
5.0
58.0
Under these conditions, we have strived to enhance profitability
to build a strong corporate structure
42.6
16.1
50
that does
38.3 solely on volume,4and have aggressively
40 not depend
37.9 deployed growth strategies in the industrial
14.0
15
machinery bearings
and
automotive
products
segments,
with
our mid-term vision “To Become No.1 in
30
26.0
20.9
11.9 12.1
Total Quality”
in mind.
2
20
7.6
10
These strategies produced record sales and profits for four fiscal years in a row. Our consolidated net
10
8.0
sales were ¥54.8
billion, or 7.6%, higher0 year on year at-10¥772.0 billion (US$7,720 million),
while operating
-5.9
0
04/3 05/3
06/3billion,
07/3 or
08/3
income increased
by ¥7.0
11.2%,
to
¥69.3
billion
(US$693
million).
Net
income
increased
by ¥7.8
-17.0
5.2
-20.7
-23.2
-30
4.5 [left]
billion, or5 22.3%,Operating
to
billion
(US$426 million).
3.7 Income
-31.6
3.6 ¥42.6
Income Margin [right]
2.4 Operating
The yen exchange
rates used to translate the financial
of overseas subsidiaries appreciated
-50statements
-46.1
-62.4 -64.6
by approximately 2% against the U.S. dollar and depreciated by approximately
8% against the euro.

3. Net Sales

Net Income [left]
Income Margin [right]
OperatingNet
Income,

s

26.0
20

0

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

0

Interest-Bearing Debt [left]

0.4

4

0.2

2

0.0

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
Asset Turnover [left]

0
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400

16.5

300

15.9

15.6

14.5

14.1

38.3

40

10

42.6

4

26.0

200

2

20

100
0

0

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

0

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

Operating Income [left]
Operating Income Margin [right]

Gross Profit Margin
SGA Expenses/Net Sales

Gross Profit Margin,
SGA Expenses/Net Sales
Net
(%) Income,
30 Income Margin
Net
60
21.5

22.5

22.4

16.5

23.1
5.5

3.8
15.9

6
5

4.1

42.6
4

15.6

2.7

30
10

23.2
4.9

50
20
40

Operating Income,
Operating Income Margin

（%）

(¥ Billions)

34.9
14.5

14.1

25.6

22.3

3
2

20
14.3

1

100

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
Gross Profit Margin

0

04/3 05/3
06/3 07/3 08/3
SGA Expenses/Net
Sales

0

Net Income [left]
Net Income Margin [right]

Operating Income,
Operating Income Margin
（%）
ROE and ROA
10
100
Capital
Expenditures,
(%)
9.0
8.7
20
Depreciation and Amortization

(¥ Billions)

(¥ Billions)
80

60
15
60
50

16.1
69.3

6.8

6.6

14.0
62.4
52.0

12.1
11.9 47.3

5.0

8

6

42.6
38.3
38.4 4
36.9
36.2 35.3
8.0
26.0
30.1
30
27.4
5.2
2
20 25.5 26.9
4.5
5
3.7
3.6
2.4
20
0
0
40
10

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

10
0

Operating
04/3 05/3
06/3Income
07/3 [left]
08/3

Operating Income Margin [right]
ROE

0

04/3 05/3
ROA 06/3 07/3 08/3

Capital Expenditures
Depreciation and Amortization

Interest-Bearing Debt,
Cash
Flows
Ratio of
Net Worth to Total Capital

(¥ Billions)

66.3

70

(¥ Billions)

300
50
30

-30
100

-17.0

-70
0

30.0

-20.7
-31.6

-50

(%)

264.4

255.6
207.2

30.3

69.2
50

37.9
246.5

10
200
-10

64.2

58.0

222.9

40

20.9

7.6
31.7

32.3 30
-5.9

32.2

-23.2

-46.1
-62.4 -64.6

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

20

10

0

Cash from
activities
04/3 05/3
06/3operating
07/3 08/3

Cash from investing activities
Interest-Bearing Debt [left]
Cash from financing activities
Ratio of Net Worth to Total Capital [right]
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0

5. Business
Segment Information
(¥ Billions)
（%）
10
100
ROE
and
ROA
(a) Industrial
Machinery
Bearings
9.0

Cash Flows
8.7
(%) sales to the machine
(¥ Billions)
In Japan,
tool and construction
machinery sectors increased.
Demands from the
66.3 64.2 69.2
20
70
8
80
construction
machinery and general machinery
sectors were strong
in the Americas. In Europe, sales
58.0
6.8
6.6 in the wind 69.3
16.1
50 sectors. Sales in Asia were favorable with brisk
increased, particularly
turbine and machine tool
37.9
62.4
14.0
demand60
15 from the electrical machinery, 6machine tool and general machinery sectors in China, and sales
30
5.0
20.9
increased substantially
in India. Sales in the aftermarket sector grew worldwide.
11.9 12.1
42.6
7.6
10
As a40result, net
bearings
segment
increased
by ¥22.7 billion, or 10.5%,
38.3sales in industrial machinery
4
year on10year8.0to ¥239.1 billion (US$2,391 million). Operating income increased by ¥3.9 billion, or 13.3%,
26.0
-5.9
-10
year on20year to ¥33.5 billion (US$335 million),
backed by volume growth.
2
5.2

-17.0

-20.7
-23.2
-30
(b) Automotive
Products 4.5
5
3.7
-31.6
3.6
In the automotive
bearings business, sales of needle roller bearings in Japan grew, backed by an increase
2.4
0
0
-50
-46.1
06/3 transmission
07/3 08/3
in demand 04/3
from 05/3
automatic
(AT) makers. In the Americas, sales
increased in Brazil and Can-62.4 -64.6
Operatingfor
Income
[left] in the U.S. declined,
0
ada. However,
demand
minivans
-70 and total sales in the Americas was flat year on
04/3 05/3
06/3Income
07/3 Margin
08/3 [right]
04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
Operating
year. Sales in Europe and Asia were strong. In particular, sales of hub unit bearings in China grew substanCash from operating activities
ROE
tially, backed by sales
and local production expansion.
Cash from investing activities
ROA
from power
financingsteering
activities (EPS) systems
In the automotive component business, sales of high-powerCash
electric
grew in Japan due to sales expansion activities. Sales of AT components were also strong. In the Americas, although sales to Japanese automotive manufacturers increased, sales of automotive components
decreased due to a cease in production of car models that use them. In Europe, sales of EPS systems
decreased due to replacement of car models that use them. In Asia, sales of steering columns increased
Interest-Bearing
Debt,
Cash Flows
in Thailand
and China.
Asset Turnover,
(¥ Ratio
Billions) of Net Worth to Total Capital
69.2
66.3 in 64.2
As a70result, net sales
the automotive
products segment
increased
by ¥37.8 billion, or 9.5%, year on
Inventory
Turnover
58.0
(Times)also increased by ¥8.0 billion,
(Times)
year(¥toBillions)
¥435.7 billion (US$4,357 million).(%)Operating income
or 35.1%, year on
50
50
1.0
300
0.93 0.92 0.92 0.94 10
year to ¥30.7
of external procurement costs.
37.9billion (US$307 million) due to volume growth and reduction
0.86
264.4
255.6Parts
30 246.5
(c) Precision
Machinery and
20.9
8
40
0.8
222.9 sector continued to be robust worldwide, and sales of linear motion products,
Sales to the machine tool
7.6
10
207.2
7.4
7.5
particularly
ball screws, increased. However, sales of exposure equipment7.0for LCD panel production
200
6.9
6.6
6
0.6
32.3
-5.9 30from semiconductor
-10
decreased
due
to decline
in demand
and liquid crystal production
equipment
31.7 32.2
30.3 30.0
-17.0
manufacturers.
-20.7
-23.2
-30
-31.6sales in the precision20machinery and 0.4
As a result, net
parts decreased by ¥9.5 billion, 4or 12.3%, year on
100
year to-50
¥68.2 billion
(US$682 million). Operating income decreased by ¥2.9 billion, or 25.3%, year on year
-46.1
-62.4 -64.6
2
10
0.2
to ¥8.6 billion (US$86 million)
due to a decrease
in production
and sales volume.
-70
(d) Others 04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
Cash
from operating
activities
Net sales
business
segment
increased
by ¥11.1
0 to ¥56.2 billion
0
0.0 billion, or 24.6%, year on year
0 in other
04/3 05/3 from
06/3 07/3 08/3
04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
activities in export of equipment
(US$ 562 million),Cash
backedinvesting
by an increase
and sales of steel balls to third parties.
Cash from financing
Interest-Bearing
Debtactivities
[left]
Asset Turnover [left]
Operating income
increased by ¥0.4 billion, or 18.4%, year on year
to ¥2.8 billion (US$28 million) due to
Ratio of Net Worth to Total Capital [right]
Inventory Turnover [right]
volume growth.

6. Geographical Segment Information
(a) Japan
In the Asset
industrial
machinery bearings segment, sales to the machine tool, construction machinery and
Turnover,
Inventory
Turnover
aftermarket
sectors
increased. In the automotive products segment, sales of needle roller bearings grew,
(Times)
(Times)
backed
by an increase in AT demand.
Sales of automotive components increased, with substantially
1.0
0.93 0.92 0.92 0.94 10
increased sales
0.86 of high-power EPS systems, backed by sales expansion, and increased sales of AT components. In the precision machinery and parts segment, demand from machine tool makers was robust,
8
0.8
while demand from the semiconductor and liquid crystal production equipment sectors was stagnant, and
7.4
7.5
sales of exposure equipment
7.0for LCD panel production decreased.
6.9
6.6
6
0.6
As a result, net sales in Japan increased by ¥35.7 billion, or 6.8%, year on year to ¥558.0 billion
(US$5,580 million). Operating income decreased by ¥0.6 billion, or 1.2%, year on year to ¥46.8 billion
4
0.4
(US$468
million). Reasons for the decrease
in operating income were a drop in sales of precision machinery and parts, an increase in depreciation due to an amendment to the Japanese Corporate Tax Law, and
2
0.2
an increase
in selling, general and administrative
expenses, which more than offset the positive effects of
volume growth in industrial machinery bearings and automotive products segments and an improvement
0
0.0 profit margins due to the depreciation
in export
of the Japanese yen.

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

(b) The Americas
Asset Turnover [left]
Sales of industrialInventory
machinery
bearings
Turnover
[right] increased with growing demand from the aftermarket sector in Brazil

2.7

30
10

14.5

25.6

22.3

3

14.1

2

20
14.3
0

20
5

0

0

38.3

4

3.6

3.7

4.5

5.2

2

2.4
0

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
04/3 05/3
07/3 08/3
Gross 06/3
Profit Margin

8.0
26.0

1

10

08/3

10
40

0

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
04/3 05/3
06/3Income
07/3 [left]
08/3
Operating

0

-5.9

-10
-30

-17.0

-20.7
-31.6

-50
-70

-46.1
-62.4 -64.6

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

Operating
Income Margin [right]
ROE
ROA

SGA
Expenses/Net
Sales
Net Income
[left]
Net Income Margin [right]

-23.2

Cash from operating activities
Cash from investing activities
Cash from financing activities

Operating Income,
Operating Income Margin

s

（%）

(¥ Billions)

10

100

（%）

23.1
5.5

6

ROE and
ROA
Capital
Expenditures,
9.0
8.7
(%)
Depreciation
and Amortization

20
(¥ Billions)
80

8

60
5
60
15
50

42.6

5.0

4

14.1
3
2

08/3

Sales
08/3

1

40
10

8.0
26.0
30
20 25.5 26.9
5
20
0

69.3
16.1
62.4 52.0
14.0

47.3
11.9 12.1
42.6
38.3
36.9
36.2 35.3

6

38.4 4

30.1

27.4

2

5.2

4.5

3.7

3.6
2.4

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3

10
0

6.8

6.6

0

Operating Income [left]

0

04/3
04/3

0

[right]

Operating
05/3
06/3Income
07/3 Margin
08/3 [right]
05/3
06/3
07/3
08/3
ROE
ROA Expenditures
Capital
Depreciation and Amortization

Cash Flows
Interest-Bearing
Debt,
Ratio of Net Worth to Total
69.2 Capital

(¥ Billions)

zation

66.3

70

16.1

50
300

.0

30

(%)

200
-10

38.4

5.2

-30

08/3

0

08/3

207.2
30.3 30.0
-17.0
-20.7
-31.6

264.4
40

222.9
7.6
31.7

-5.9 30
32.3

32.2

-23.2
20

-46.1
-62.4 -64.6

10

04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
Cash from operating activities
0

Cash from
activities
04/3 05/3
06/3investing
07/3 08/3

Cash from financing activities
Interest-Bearing Debt [left]
Ratio of Net Worth to Total Capital [right]

s
mortization

-17.0

4
20
0.4
-20.7
(c) Europe
-23.2
-30
100
-31.6
Sales of industrial machinery bearings saw a substantial increase in the wind turbine, machine tools and
-50
-46.1In the automotive 10
2 increased. How0.2 sales of automotive bearings
aftermarket
sectors.
products segment,
-62.4 -64.6
ever, in-70the automotive components business, sales of EPS systems decreased due to changes in the
06/3
07/3precision
08/3 0 machinery and
models 0that04/3
use05/3
them.
In the
0.0 parts segment, sales to the 0machine tool and
04/3 05/3
06/3 07/3 08/3
04/3 05/3 06/3 07/3 08/3
Cash from
general machinery
sectorsoperating
grew. activities
Cash from investing
Interest-Bearing
Debtactivities
[left]
Asset Turnover [left]
As a result, net
in Europe
increased by ¥12.4 billion, or
9.7%, year on year to ¥140.0 billion
Cashsales
financing
Ratio
offrom
Net Worth
to Totalactivities
Capital [right]
Inventory Turnover [right]
(US$1,400 million). Operating income increased by ¥3.5 billion, or 52.4%, year on year to ¥10.1 billion
(US$101 million) due to increased sales of industrial machinery bearings.
(d) Asia
In the industrial machinery bearings segment, sales to the electrical machinery, machine tool, general
machinery and aftermarket sectors increased substantially in China, and sales also increased in India,
Asset Turnover,
particularly
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Operating income 6increased by ¥3.7 billion, or 39.5%, year on year to ¥13.2 billion
(US$132 million) due to improved capacity utilization resulting from volume growth.
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7. Other Income and Expenses
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Other income and expenses shifted from net expenses of ¥5.3 billion in the previous year to net expenses
2
0.2
of ¥5.7 billion (US$57 million) in the year ended March 31, 2008. In the previous year, other income items
included ¥1.3 billion from sales of fixed assets, and ¥0.5 billion from sales of investments in affiliated compa0
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other expense items included ¥1.9 billion (US$19 million) from compensation for damage, and ¥0.2 billion (US$2 million) from sales of investments in affiliated companies.

8. Income Before Income Taxes and Minority Interests
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There was a year-on-year increase of ¥6.6 billion, or 11.5%, to ¥63.6 billion (US$636 million), despite an
increase in other expenses. This result reflects an increase in operating income.
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9. Tax Expenses

8

Tax expenses (current and deferred income taxes) decreased by ¥1.0 billion, or 5.1%, year on year to
¥19.2 billion (US$192 million). The effective corporate tax rate applied to income before income taxes and
minority interests, dropped to 30.1% from 35.4% in the previous year.

6

10. Minority Interests

7.5

30

0.6

20

0.4

4

Minority interests consist mainly of the interests of minority shareholders in subsidiaries. In the year ended
March 31, 2008, this item decreased by ¥0.2 billion, or 8.0%, year on year to ¥1.8 billion (US$18 million).
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11. Net Income

0

0.0
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Asset Turnover [left]
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Net income increased by ¥7.8 billion, or 22.3%, year on year to ¥42.6 billion (US$426 million) in the year
ended March 31, 2008. Net income per share was ¥78.84 (US$0.788), up from ¥64.53 in the previous
year. The rate of return on shareholders’ equity (ROE) improved by 2.1 percentage points to 16.1%, from
14.0% in the previous year.
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12. Cash Flows and Financial Position
(a) Cash Flows
Net cash provided by operating activities increased by ¥5.1 billion, year on year to ¥69.2 billion (US$692
million). Components of this total include income before income taxes and minority interests of ¥63.6 billion
(US$636 million), and depreciation of ¥38.4 billion (US$384 million).
Net cash used in investing activities amounted to ¥23.2 billion (US$232 million), a year-on-year decrease
of ¥41.4 billion due mainly to acquisition of tangible fixed assets as a result of capital investment in areas
offering growth potential despite proceeds from sales of securities.
Net cash from financing activities decreased by ¥26.9 billion, year on year to a net expenditure of ¥5.9
billion (US$59 million) in the year ended March 31, 2008. Income, including ¥35.0 billion (US$350 million)
from bond issues, was offset by expenditures, including bond redemptions totaling ¥23.0 billion (US$230
million), as well as dividend payments.
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fiscal year amounted to ¥113.2 billion (US$1,132 million).
This represents a net increase of ¥39.9 billion over the position at the end of the previous year.

(b) Financial Position
Total assets increased by ¥12.8 billion, year on year to ¥828.6 billion (US$8,286 million). The main reasons
for this increase were increases in marketable securities and increases in notes and accounts receivable as a result of sales growth. Current assets increased by ¥15.3 billion, year on year to ¥404.4 billion
(US$4,044 million). Current liabilities decreased by ¥3.2 billion, year on year to ¥294.3 billion (US$2,943
million) despite an increase in accounts payable because of sales growth. This was mainly the result of a
decrease in corporate bonds. Interest-bearing debt increased by ¥8.9 billion, year on year to ¥264.4 billion
(US$2,644 million). Net interest-bearing debt (the outstanding balance of interest-bearing debt less cash
equivalents) decreased by ¥31.1 billion, year on year to ¥151.2 billion (US$1,512 million). The net debtequity ratio improved from 0.69 to 0.56. Shareholders’ equity increased by ¥5.5 billion, year on year to
¥267.9 billion (US$2,679 million) due mainly to an increase in net income in the year under review despite a
reduction in unrealized holding gain on securities and dividend payouts by the parent company. Net assets
per share increased to ¥495.61 (US$4.956) from ¥485.62 in the previous year. NSK’s ratio of net worth to
total capital improved from 32.2% to 32.3% in the year ended March 31, 2008.

Business Risks and Other Risk Factors
Listed below are the principal risk factors that have the potential to affect the NSK Group, including its
business development, performance and financial position. Any forward-looking statements in the following section are the NSK Group’s judgments as of June 25, 2008.

1. Economic Conditions in Countries, Regions and Industries
The business performance and financial position of the NSK Group could be adversely affected by deterioration in the economic environment resulting from fluctuations in economic conditions in the specific
countries and regions in which we sell and manufacture products, or from fluctuations in business conditions in the industries to which its customers and suppliers belong.

2. Market Changes and Competition
Competition for sales is intensifying on a global scale. There is a risk of increasing price competition resulting from rapid growth in sales of low-priced products made by manufacturers in emerging economies, and
of a loss of sales opportunities if the NSK Group lags behind in the establishment of offshore production
operations with global expansion by its customers, especially those in automobile-related industries.

3. Reliance on Specific Industries
There is a risk that the business performance and financial position of the NSK Group could be adversely
affected by sudden declines in demand in the industries on which it is heavily reliant, especially the automotive sector, which accounts for over one-half of its sales, as well as the semiconductor industry and
machine tools industry, which are key markets for its precision machinery and parts.

4. Credit Risks
Though most of the NSK Group’s customers are believed to be companies with relatively low credit risk,
it is always possible that a customer’s capital position may be weakened by an economic recession or
escalating competition in global markets. There is a risk that this could result in unexpected bad debts.
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5. Business Alliance Risks
There is a risk that a dispute with a partner could prevent an alliance from yielding the anticipated benefits.

6. Reliance on Specific Suppliers
Steel balls, which are key components for bearings, are manufactured within the NSK Group. However,
the range of suppliers for materials and other parts may be limited because of the characteristics of some
products. There are also risks of supply problems or cost increases if a supplier suffers from insufficient
production capacity, quality problems, fire, natural disaster, or bankruptcy.

7. Price Hikes of Raw Materials
Amid the trend of rising prices for raw materials (including steel and crude oil), there is concern about price
hikes of materials and parts used in the NSK Group’s products. The NSK Group is striving to reduce costs,
and pass on price hikes to product prices, but if its product prices fail to fully absorb these price hikes,
they might hurt performance.

8. Quality Risks
There is a risk of substantial costs and a loss of public reputation resulting from the consequences of a
failure to detect a serious product defect, including a serious accident, product recall or interruption of a
customer’s production operations. The NSK Group has obtained global product liability insurance, as well
as product recall insurance for some items. However, this cover may not be sufficient to cover losses,
including compensation for damages.

9. Product Development Risks
In its product development activities, the NSK Group is exposed to various risks, including the risks that
new products may not be embraced by the market, that competitors may develop similar products faster
than the NSK Group, or that other companies may introduce products that supersede new products
developed by the NSK Group.

10. Intellectual Property Risks
There is a risk that the NSK Group will not be able to establish intellectual property rights or obtain permission to use the intellectual property rights of third parties, that the NSK Group will be accused of infringing
the property rights of third parties, or that it may not be possible to eliminate counterfeit products effectively
in certain regions.

11. Overseas Expansion Risks
There is a risk that the NSK Group will not be able to recover its investment in overseas operations as
planned, that regional factors may prevent the start-up of new production sites according to plan, or that it
will become necessary to relocate or close production operations. There are also unavoidable risks relating
to business conditions and regulatory systems specific to countries or regions in which the NSK Group
has established business operations.

12. Disaster and Terrorist Risks
The production and sales activities of the NSK Group could be adversely affected if the Group or its customers or suppliers suffer material losses or human casualties as a result of earthquakes, floods, fires, snow
damage, new infectious diseases, other disasters, riots, terrorist incidents or anti-Japanese activities.

13. Compliance Risks
The NSK Group has established a code of business ethics and is working to ensure compliance with laws
and regulations. However, there remains the risk that violations of laws and regulations could adversely
affect the Group’s public reputation and result in the imposition of economic penalties.

14. Litigation Risks
Though the NSK Group has obtained insurance cover against product liability suits resulting from product
defects, such insurance does not provide unlimited indemnity for compensation costs incurred by the
Group. There is also a risk of litigation other than product liability suits.

15. Information Management Risks
The NSK Group handles substantial amounts of important business information and personal information
in the course of its business activities and cannot rule out the possibility of unforeseeable situations leading to the leakage of such information. There is a risk that such a situation would result in a loss of public
reputation, and that substantial costs would be incurred.
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16. Information Disclosure and Shareholder Income Risks
The NSK Group has established timely disclosure systems and strives to ensure the fair and timely disclosure of company data and the reliability of its financial reports. However, there is a risk that shareholder value
in the market may be reduced, and that shareholder interests may be adversely affected if the NSK Group
is unable to adjust appropriately to the establishment or amendment of laws, regulations, notifications or
other requirements, changes in stock exchange rules, or environmental changes, or if inadequate checking
of operational processes relating to financial reporting results in inaccuracies in the information disclosed.
There is also a risk that a serious defect or flaw may be found in an evaluation or audit of the effectiveness
of internal control related to financial reporting based on the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law.

17. Environmental Risks
There is a risk that the NSK Group’s business activities may result in environmental problems, such as
emissions of substances that cause environmental loads or soil contamination. The Group allocates a
cost related to environmental safety measures in its accounts to provide for expenditure on countermeasures, removal measures or other requirements concerning substances that are currently subject to usage
restrictions, such as asbestos. However, there is a risk that other environmental problems may arise, with
consequences that may include the payment of compensation for damages, product recall, suspension of
production, clean-up expenses, or administrative action such as the imposition of fines. There is also a risk
that the establishment of new regulations will result in a substantial cost burden.

18. Information System Risks
The NSK Group uses on-line systems and networks in operations relating to its supply chain, including
production, sales and logistics. There is a possibility that these systems could fail, and that the restoration
of services would require a substantial period of time. There is also the possibility of disruption resulting
from delays in the improvement of existing systems, or from the development and introduction of new
systems. Such problems could hinder production activity, warehouse management and sales activity, and
impact the production plans of customers and suppliers, exposing the NSK Group to the risk of claims for
compensation and a loss of reputation.

19. Recruitment Risks
The NSK Group recognizes that the recruitment and training of human resources with excellent abilities
and technical knowledge are essential to maintaining competitiveness. Because of imbalances in the age
mix of its workforce, the Group anticipates a sharp increase in the number of workers retiring in the next
few years. However, there is growing competition for workers with skills in the NSK Group’s fields of activity, and if the Group is unable to secure sufficient new workers, its operations could be adversely affected
by a failure to pass on skills.

20. Labor Dispute Risks and Labor Environment
There is a risk that differences in labor practices in overseas countries and regions, or unforeseeable contingencies, such as changes in the legal environment or economic environment, may cause labor relations
to deteriorate, leading to labor disputes and other problems.
We are taking initiatives to upgrade the labor environment at the company but there is also a risk of
industrial accident caused by malfunctioning equipment or worker carelessness.

21. Foreign Exchange and Interest Rate Risks
The NSK Group employs hedging, in accordance with internal guidelines, against exchange rate fluctuations affecting trading transactions, investments and other transactions denominated in foreign currencies,
and against fluctuations in interest rates payable on its interest-bearing debt. However, the risk of adverse
effects on the Group’s business performance or financial position cannot be entirely eliminated.

22. Retirement Benefit Liabilities
NSK Ltd., its subsidiaries in Japan and some overseas subsidiaries have established defined-benefit pension
plans and lump-sum payment plans. There is a risk that the business performance and financial position of
the NSK Group may be adversely affected by related factors, such as changes in assumptions concerning
retirement benefits and obligations, or deterioration in returns from the investment of pension assets.

4442

Management’s Views on Key Issues and Future Policies
NSK marked the 90th anniversary of its founding on November 8, 2006. Over the next 10 years, we will
work to realize our vision for NSK by the time of its centenary. The name that we have chosen for that vision
is “Next 10.” The three-year mid-term plan launched in April 2006 forms the first stage of the countdown
to our centenary year.
The financial year ending March 31, 2009 is the final year of the mid-term plan. Through the year under
review, the external environment has been undergoing major changes away from an environment that is
favorable to the performance of the NSK Group. In addition to rising prices for raw materials, the risk of a
global recession has been growing, and the Japanese yen has been appreciating against other currencies.
Nonetheless, even in such an environment, we are taking further initiatives to enhance our profitability and
our ability to handle risks, while also improving the quality of our products and operation with the mid-term
vision as “To Become No. 1 in Total Quality” in mind. This encompasses the quality of all services we provide as well as the quality of products, which is the most fundamental requirement of a manufacturer.
Our four Group policies for the realization of this mid-term vision are as follows: reinforcement of manufacturing capability, reinforcement of product development capability, reinforcement of global management
capability and reinforcement of overseas profitability.
In the industrial machinery bearings segment, we will invest aggressively to improve production capacity of roller bearings, which are high value-added products. Along with this, we will expand our global
sales by enhancing marketing and production capabilities. In the automotive products segment, we will
strengthen profitability by reducing costs with measures such as promoting global procurement, increasing
the percentage of in-house manufacturing at overseas plants, and developing new facilities and processing technology. In the precision machinery and parts segment, we will enhance customer satisfaction levels
by responding quickly to users’ needs and delivering our products in a timely manner, and reinforce our
marketing capability in Japan and overseas, while improving profitability.
NSK recognizes that contributing to the reduction of global energy loss through our business activities
is our social responsibility for which we will steadily improve our environmental management levels. We
contribute to global environmental protection by meeting increasingly tough customer demands for energy
saving, and by further expanding our line-up of environment-friendly products. Also, we will comply with
tightening toxic chemical substance regulations, and strengthen the management of chemical substances
used in each process, from procurement of parts and raw materials, to production and shipment. Therefore, we will globally supply products that quickly respond to changing regulations.
With these initiatives, NSK will focus on achieving the mid-term vision and make efforts to enhance its
corporate value.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
NSK Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

As of March 31,

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 2)

2008

2007

2008

¥113,226

¥ 73,319

$1,132,260

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments (Note 3)

6,633

35,676

66,330

137,439

131,417

1,374,390

(1,223)

(1,759)

(12,230)

101,849

105,043

1,018,490

9,219

10,190

92,190

37,268

35,179

372,680

404,412

389,067

4,044,120

36,979

37,110

369,790

Buildings and structures

187,816

180,062

1,878,160

Machinery, vehicles and equipment

565,193

560,879

5,651,930

18,409

12,432

184,090

808,398

790,485

8,083,980

Less accumulated depreciation

(540,343)

(533,613)

(5,403,430)

Property, plant and equipment, net

268,055

256,872

2,680,550

3,940

4,671

39,400

Investments in and advances to affiliates

21,998

19,768

219,980

Investment securities (Notes 3 and 9)

69,052

92,584

690,520

3,018

2,855

30,180

Prepaid pension cost (Note 10)

43,830

38,063

438,300

Other non-current assets

14,272

11,904

142,720

Total non-current assets

424,167

426,721

4,241,670

¥828,580

¥815,788

$8,285,800

Notes and accounts receivable
Less allowance for doubtful receivables
Inventories (Note 4)
Deferred tax assets (Note 7)
Other current assets
Total current assets

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment, at cost (Notes 5 and 9):
Land

Construction in progress

Goodwill

Deferred tax assets (Note 7)

Total assets
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As of March 31,

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 2)

2008

2007

2008

¥ 68,883

¥ 74,214

$ 688,830

Liabilities and net assets
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt (Note 6)
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 9)

25,904

33,654

259,040

130,966

122,115

1,309,660

6,199

11,183

61,990

62,364

56,320

623,640

294,318

297,489

2,943,180

169,625

147,687

1,696,250

36,592

39,893

365,920

1,202

938

12,020

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 7)

29,737

39,536

297,370

Other long-term liabilities

13,326

13,515

133,260

250,486

241,571

2,504,860

2008 – 551,268,104 shares

67,176

—

671,760

2007 – 551,268,104 shares

—

67,176

—

78,304

78,238

783,040

154,846

121,441

1,548,460

(4,134)

(4,119)

(41,340)

296,193

262,736

2,961,930

18,216

36,548

182,160

Notes and accounts payable (Note 9)
Accrued income taxes (Note 7)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Notes 7 and 8)
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt (Note 9)
Accrued employees’ retirement benefits (Note 10)
Accrued officers’ retirement benefits

Total long-term liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Net assets:
Shareholders’ equity (Notes 11, 16 and 21):
Common stock, without par value:
Authorized:
2008 and 2007 – 987,244,000 shares
Issued:

Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Less treasury stock, at cost
Total shareholders’ equity
Valuation, translation adjustments and other:
Unrealized holding gain on securities
Translation adjustments

(21,586)

(11,963)

(215,860)

Unfunded retirement benefits obligations of overseas subsidiaries

(24,909)

(24,895)

(249,090)

(28,279)

(311)

(282,790)

170

56

1,700

15,690

14,245

156,900

283,775

276,727

2,837,750

¥828,580

¥815,788

$8,285,800

Total valuation, translation adjustments and other
Share subscription rights
Minority interests
Total net assets
Total liabilities and net assets
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
NSK Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 2)

2008

2007

2008

¥772,036

¥717,225

$7,720,360

Cost of sales (Notes 5 and 12)

593,736

551,069

5,937,360

Gross profit

178,299

166,155

1,782,990

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 5, 12 and 20)

108,956

103,772

1,089,560

69,343

62,383

693,430

Interest and dividend income

3,091

2,425

30,910

Interest expense

(6,246)

(5,473)

(62,460)

Equity in earnings of affiliates

4,475

3,925

44,750

Loss on disposal of inventories

(1,209)

(1,302)

(12,090)

871

—

8,710

Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment

—

1,342

—

Gain on sales of investments in affiliates

—

540

—

(1,948)

—

(19,480)

—

(2,441)

—

(4,764)

(4,363)

(47,640)

(5,730)

(5,346)

(57,300)

63,613

57,037

636,130

Current

15,646

17,371

156,460

Deferred

3,526

2,827

35,260

19,173

20,198

191,730

1,827

1,985

18,270

¥ 42,613

¥ 34,853

$ 426,130

Year ended March 31,

Net sales

Operating income
Other income (expenses):

Gain on sales of investment securities

Loss on compensation for damages
Cost related to business restructuring
Other, net

Income before income taxes and minority interests
Income taxes (Note 7):

Minority interests in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries
Net income (Note 16)
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
NSK Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 2)

2008

2007

2008

¥ 67,176
¥ 67,176

¥ 67,176
¥ 67,176

Year ended March 31,

Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock
Beginning balance
Ending balance

$
$

671,760
671,760

Additional paid-in capital
Beginning balance
Disposition of treasury stock
Ending balance

¥ 78,238
¥ 78,097
$
		
66 		
140 		
¥ 78,304
¥ 78,238
$

782,380
660
783,040

Retained earnings
Beginning balance
Net income
Cash dividends applicable to the year
Effect of changes in fiscal year ends of consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates (Note 1)
Net changes in items other than those in shareholders’ equity during the year
Ending balance

¥ 121,441
		 42,613
		 (10,277)
		
1,069
		
—
¥ 154,846

Treasury stock
Beginning balance
Net change during the year
Ending balance

¥
		
¥

Total shareholders’ equity
Beginning balance
Net change during the year
Ending balance

¥ 262,736
¥ 212,290
$ 2,627,360
		 33,456 		 50,446 		 334,560
¥ 296,193
¥ 262,736
$ 2,961,930

Valuation, translation adjustments and other:
Unrealized holding gain on securities
Beginning balance
Net change during the year
Ending balance

¥ 36,548
¥ 42,297
$ 365,480
		 (18,331) 		 (5,749) 		 (183,310)
¥ 18,216
¥ 36,548
$ 182,160

Translation adjustments
Beginning balance
Net change during the year
Ending balance

¥ (11,963)
¥ (18,871) $ (119,630)
6,908 		
(96,220)
		 (9,622) 		
¥ (21,586)
¥ (11,963) $ (215,860)

Unfunded retirement benefit obligations of overseas subsidiaries
Beginning balance
Net change during the year
Ending balance

¥ (24,895)
¥
—
$ (248,950)
		
(13) 		 (24,895) 		
(130)
¥ (24,909)
¥ (24,895) $ (249,090)

Total valuation, translation adjustments and other
Beginning balance
Net change during the year
Ending balance

¥
(311)
¥ 23,425
$
(3,110)
		 (27,968) 		 (23,736) 		 (279,680)
¥ (28,279)
¥
(311) $ (282,790)

Share subscription rights
Beginning balance
Net change during the year
Ending balance

¥
		
¥

Minority interests
Beginning balance
Net change during the year
Ending balance
Total net assets

¥ 14,245
¥ 12,107
$ 142,450
		
1,445 		
2,137 		
14,450
¥ 15,690
¥ 14,245
$ 156,900
¥ 283,775
¥ 276,727
$ 2,837,750

¥ 71,241
		 34,853
		 (8,650)
		
906
		 23,091
¥ 121,441

(4,119)
¥
(15) 		
(4,134)
¥

56
¥
114 		
170
¥

$ 1,214,410
		 426,130
		 (102,770)
		
10,690
		
—
$ 1,548,460

(4,224) $
105 		
(4,119) $

—
$
56 		
56
$

(41,190)
(150)
(41,340)

560
1,140
1,700

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
NSK Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Year ended March 31,

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 2)

2008

2007

2008

Operating activities
¥ 63,613

¥ 57,037

Depreciation and amortization

Income before income taxes and minority interests

38,380

35,316

383,800

Provision for retirement benefits

(8,969)

(11,010)

(89,690)

Amortization of goodwill
Interest expense
Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment
Gain on sales of investment securities
Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in inventories

$

636,130

756

730

7,560

6,246

5,473

62,460

—

(1,342)

—

(871)

—

(8,710)

(8,607)

(7,884)

(86,070)

(590)

477

(5,900)

Increase in notes and accounts payable

9,392

8,223

93,920

Other, net

(7,700)

(7,662)

(77,000)

Subtotal

91,649

79,357

916,490

Interest and dividends received

5,104

7,339

51,040

Interest paid

(6,275)

(5,660)

(62,750)

Income taxes paid

(21,242)

(16,883)

(212,420)

Net cash provided by operating activities

69,236

64,153

692,360

(46,782)

(39,062)

(467,820)

1,047

2,020

10,470

772

—

7,720

—

1,861

—

(8,283)

(1,199)

(82,830)

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sales of stock in companies accounted for
by the equity method
Proceeds from sales of stock in subsidiaries resulting in changes
in scope of consolidation (Note 18)
Decrease (increase) in investment securities
Other, net
Net cash used in investing activities

30,058

(28,221)

300,580

(23,187)

(64,600)

(231,870)

(6,690)

4,704

(66,900)

—

(5,000)

—

Financing activities
Increase in short-term debt
Net increase (decrease) in commercial paper
Proceeds from issuance of bonds

35,000

40,000

350,000

Payments of bonds

(23,000)

(10,000)

(230,000)

Decrease in long-term debt

(1,342)

(1,277)

(13,420)

Cash dividends paid

(9,731)

(7,291)

(97,310)

(121)

(121)

(1,210)

(37)

(84)

(370)

(5,923)

20,929

(59,230)

(945)

969

(9,450)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

39,180

21,452

391,800

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

73,319

51,812

733,190

Acquisition of treasury stock
Other, net
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Increase in cash and cash equivalents resulting from changes
in fiscal year ends of consolidated subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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726

54

7,260

¥ 113,226

¥ 73,319

$ 1,132,260

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
NSK Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the year ended March 31, 2008

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation
NSK Ltd. (the “Company”) and its domestic subsidiaries maintain their books of account in conformity with the
financial accounting standards of Japan, and its foreign subsidiaries maintain their books of account in conformity
with those of their countries of domicile.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been compiled from the consolidated financial
statements prepared by the Company as required under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan and
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, which are different in
certain respects as to the application and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.
As permitted by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan, amounts of less than one million yen
have been omitted. As a result, the totals shown in the accompanying consolidated financial statements (both in
yen and in U.S. dollars) do not necessarily agree with the sums of the individual amounts.
Certain amounts in the prior year’s financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s
presentation.

(b) Principles of Consolidation and Accounting for Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries
and Affiliates
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and any significant
companies controlled directly or indirectly by the Company. Significant companies over which the Company
exercises significant influence in terms of their operating and financial policies have been included in the
consolidated financial statements on an equity basis. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.
Investments in subsidiaries which are not consolidated or accounted for by the equity method are carried at
cost or less. Where there has been a permanent decline in the value of such investments, the Company has written
down the investments.
Eight overseas consolidated subsidiaries have changed their fiscal year-ends from December 31 to March 31,
effective the year ended March 31, 2008.
Certain subsidiaries, however, are still consolidated on the basis of fiscal periods ending December 31, which
differs from the year-end of the Company; any significant effects of this difference in fiscal periods have been
adjusted appropriately in consolidation.
Goodwill is being amortized by the straight-line method over a period of 10 years except for immaterial amounts
which have been charged or credited to income in the year incurred.
In consolidating the financial statements of NSK Brazil Ltda. (“NSK Brazil”), the amount of the Company’s
investment in NSK Brazil has been offset against the adjusted amount of NSK Brazil’s shareholders’ equity as of
March 31, 1997 based on the indexation accounting system.

(c) Foreign Currency Translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into yen at the exchange rates
prevailing at the balance sheet dates, except for assets and liabilities hedged by forward foreign exchange contracts.
All revenues and expenses associated with foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing
when such transactions were made. The resulting exchange gains and losses are credited or charged to income.
The balance sheet accounts of the foreign consolidated subsidiaries are translated into yen at the rates of
exchange in effect at the balance sheet date, except for the components of net assets excluding minority interests
which are translated at their historical exchange rates. Revenue and expense accounts are translated at the
average rate of exchange in effect during the year.

(d) Cash Equivalents
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three
months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.
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(e) Securities
In general, securities other than those of subsidiaries and affiliates are classified into three categories: trading, heldto-maturity or other securities. Securities held by the Company and its subsidiaries are classified as either held-tomaturity or other securities. Held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized cost. Other securities with a
determinable market value are stated at fair value with any changes in unrealized holding gain or loss, net of the
applicable income taxes, included directly in net assets. Other securities without a determinable market value are
stated at cost. Cost of securities sold is determined by the moving-average method.

(f) Inventories
Finished products are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined principally by the weightedaverage method. Work in process is stated at cost determined principally by the weighted-average method.
Supplies are stated at cost determined by the moving-average method. Raw materials are stated at the lower of
cost or market, cost being determined principally by the weighted-average method.

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is determined mainly by the declining-balance method at rates based
on the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
summarized as follows:
Buildings and structures
Machinery, vehicles and equipment

20 to 50 years
3 to 10 years

(h) Leases
Noncancelable leases are primarily accounted for as operating leases (whether such leases are classified as
operating or finance leases) except that leases which stipulate the transfer of ownership of the leased assets to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

(i) Retirement Benefits
Accrued employees’ retirement benefits or prepaid pension cost are recorded mainly at an amount calculated
based on the retirement benefit obligation and the fair value of the pension plan assets at the balance sheet dates,
as adjusted for unrecognized actuarial gain or loss and unrecognized prior service cost. The retirement benefit
obligation is attributed to each period by the straight-line method over the estimated years of service of the eligible
employees. Actuarial gain and loss are amortized in the year following the year in which the gain or loss is
recognized, primarily by the straight-line method and principally over 10 years. Certain foreign subsidiaries adopt
the corridor approach for the amortization of actuarial gain and loss. Prior service cost is amortized as incurred by
the straight-line method principally over 10 years.
Until the year ended March 31, 2006, retirement benefit plans of consolidated subsidiaries in the United
Kingdom had been accounted for in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
Kingdom (“U.K. GAAP”). Effective the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company had accounted for the plans in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”).
This change was made to present more appropriately the Group’s financial position and operating results by
unifying the Group’s accounting policies with respect to transactions which were substantively the same and were
executed under the same environment in recognition of the significant difference between U.K. GAAP and
Japanese GAAP as to the accounting treatment of prior service cost arising from amendments to their retirement
benefit plans made in the year ended March 31, 2007.
The effect of this change was to decrease operating income by ¥5 million and income before income taxes and
minority interests by ¥5,468 million for the year ended March 31, 2007 from the corresponding amounts which
would have been recorded under U.K. GAAP. Prior service cost arising from the plan amendment by the U.K.
consolidated subsidiaries was amortized as incurred by the straight-line method principally over 10 years.
The effect of the above changes on segment information is explained in Note 19.
Members of the Board of Directors and executive officers of the Company are customarily entitled to severance
payments. Provisions for retirement benefits for them are made at estimated amounts.
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(j) Accrual for Environmental Safety Measures Expenses
Accrual for environmental safety measures expenses is provided for at an estimated amount of expenditures
required for the removal and disposal of asbestos and polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) currently used in the buildings
and equipment of the Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries.

(k) Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between financial reporting and the tax
bases of the assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws which will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse.

(l) Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are charged to income when incurred.

(m) Distribution of Retained Earnings
Dividends and other distributions of retained earnings are resolved by the Board of Directors held subsequent to the
end of the fiscal year, and are reported to the shareholders at a meeting. The accompanying consolidated financial
statements reflect the applicable distributions of retained earnings as resolved by the Board of Directors
subsequent to the fiscal year end.

(n) Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
All derivatives are stated at fair value with any changes in fair value included in net income for the period in which
they arise, except for derivatives which meet the criteria for deferral hedge accounting under which realized gain or
loss, net applicable income taxes, is deferred as a component of net assets. Receivables and payables hedged by
forward foreign exchange contracts which meet certain conditions are translated at the corresponding foreign
exchange contract rates.

(o) Changes in Accounting Standards
(Method of depreciation of tangible fixed assets)
Due to an amendment to the Japanese Corporate Tax Law in 2007, the Company and its domestic consolidated
subsidiaries have changed the method of depreciation of tangible fixed assets on or after April 1, 2007 to the
method prescribed in the amended Corporate Tax Law.
The changes in accounting for depreciation did not have a material impact on the results of operating income,
income before income taxes and minority interests.
(Additional information)
Pursuant to an amendment to the Japanese Corporate Tax Law, the Company and its domestic consolidated
subsidiaries depreciate the difference between 5% of the acquisition cost of assets acquired on or before March
31, 2007 and the book value of said assets uniformly over a five-year period, starting the year following the fiscal
year in which the depreciated value of said assets reaches 5% of the acquisition price using the pre-amendment
depreciation method. Depreciated amounts are included in depreciation expenses.
As a result of this change, operating income decreased ¥1,888 million ($18,880 thousand), and income before
income taxes and minority interests decreased ¥1,946 million ($19,460 thousand) respectively compared to the
results using the pre-amendment method.
(Accounting standard for tax effects accounting)
From the year ending March 31, 2008, the Company has adopted “Practical Guidelines for Tax Effects on
Consolidated Financial Statements”—JICPA Laws and Regulations Committee Report No. 6, March 29, 2007.
The changes in adopting the guidelines did not have a material impact on the results of net income.
(Accounting standard for the presentation of net assets in the balance sheet)
Effective April 1, 2006, the Company had adopted a new accounting standard for the presentation of net assets in
the balance sheet and the related implementation guidance. In addition, effective the year ended March 31, 2007,
the Company was required to prepare consolidated statements of changes in net assets instead of consolidated
statements of shareholders’ equity.
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(Accounting standard for stock-based compensation)
Effective April 1, 2006, the Company adopted a new accounting standard for stock-based compensation and
related implementation guidance. The effect of this change was to decrease operating income and income before
income taxes and minority interests by ¥57 million for the year ended March 31, 2007 from the corresponding
amounts which would have been recorded under the previous method.
(Accounting standard for directors’ bonuses)
Effective April 1, 2006, the Company adopted a new accounting standard for directors’ bonuses. However, there
was no effect of this change on the consolidated financial statements.

2. U.S. Dollar Amounts
The translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included solely for convenience and has been made, as
a matter of arithmetic computation only, at the rate of ¥100 = U.S.$1.00, the approximate rate of exchange in effect
on March 31, 2008. The translation should not be construed as a representation that yen have been, could have
been, or could in the future be, converted into U.S. dollars at that or any other rate.

3. Securities
(a) Information regarding marketable securities classified as held-to-maturity, which were included in Short-term
investments and Investments securities, as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 is as follows:
Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2008

Carrying
value

Estimated
fair value

¥

¥

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Carrying
value

Estimated
fair value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Securities whose fair value
exceeds their carrying value:
Government bonds

—

—

¥ —

$

—

$

—

$

—

Corporate bonds

895

908

13

8,950

9,080

130

Other debt securities

499

501

1

4,990

5,010

10

1,395

1,409

14

13,950

14,090

140

Subtotal
Securities whose carrying
value exceeds their fair value:
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities
Subtotal
Total

4452

—

—

—

—

—

—

5,384

5,235

(149)

53,840

52,350

(1,490)

499

499

(0)

4,990

4,990

(0)

5,884

5,734

(150)

58,840

57,340

(1,500)

¥7,280

¥7,144

¥(135)

$72,800

$71,440

$(1,350)

Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2007

Carrying
value

Estimated
fair value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Securities whose fair value
exceeds their carrying value:
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities

¥

—

1,801

¥

—

¥ —

1,807

5

599

600

0

2,401

2,407

5

—

—

—

Corporate bonds

5,383

5,236

(146)

Other debt securities

1,499

1,494

(5)

Subtotal
Securities whose carrying
value exceeds their fair value:
Government bonds

Subtotal
Total

6,883

6,731

(151)

¥9,285

¥9,139

¥(145)

(b) Information regarding marketable securities classified as other securities, which were included in Short-term
investments and Investments securities, as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 is as follows:
Millions of yen

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Acquisition
cost

Carrying
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Acquisition
cost

Carrying
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

¥19,846

¥56,974

¥37,127

$198,460

$569,740

$371,270

Government bonds

—

—

—

—

—

—

Corporate bonds

—

—

—

—

—

—

Other debt securities

—

—

—

—

—

—

As of March 31, 2008

Securities whose carrying value
exceeds their acquisition cost:
Stock
Bonds:

Other

71

86

15

710

860

150

Subtotal

19,918

57,060

37,142

199,180

570,600

371,420

7,482

5,461

(2,021)

74,820

54,610

(20,210)

9

9

—

90

90

—

Corporate bonds

45

44

(0)

450

440

(0)

Other debt securities

11

11

—

110

110

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Securities whose acquisition cost
exceeds their carrying value:
Stock
Bonds:
Government bonds

Other
Subtotal
Total

7,549

5,527

(2,021)

75,490

55,270

(20,210)

¥27,467

¥62,588

¥35,120

$274,670

$625,880

$351,200
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Millions of yen
Acquisition
cost

Carrying
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

¥17,620

¥83,394

¥65,773

Government bonds

—

—

—

Corporate bonds

45

52

7

Other debt securities

—

—

—

As of March 31, 2007

Securities whose carrying value
exceeds their acquisition cost:
Stock
Bonds:

Other

310

458

148

Subtotal

17,975

83,905

65,929

814

603

(211)

9

9

—

—

—

—

1

1

—

Securities whose acquisition cost
exceeds their carrying value:
Stock
Bonds:
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities
Other

85

80

(4)

Subtotal

910

695

(215)

¥18,886

¥84,600

¥65,713

Total

Acquisition cost in the tables above represents the book value after the devaluation of certain securities.
(c) Information regarding sales of securities classified as other securities for the years ended March 31, 2008 and
2007 is as follows:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2008

2007

2008

¥1,979

¥45

$19,790

877

31

8,770

5

—

50

Year ended March 31,

Proceeds from sales
Gains on sales
Losses on sales

(d) The redemption schedule for securities with maturity dates classified as held-to-maturity securities and other
securities at March 31, 2008 and 2007 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2008

Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities
Total
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Due in one
year or less

¥

—

1,499

Due after one
year through
five years

¥

Due after five
years through
ten years

10

¥—

3,537

—

Due after ten
years

¥

—

1,287

499

499

—

—

¥1,999

¥4,047

¥—

¥1,287

Thousands of
U.S. dollars
As of March 31, 2008

Government bonds
Corporate bonds

Due in one
year or less

$

—

$

Due after five
years through
ten years

Due after ten
years

100

$—

14,990

35,370

—

12,870

4,990

4,990

—

—

$19,990

$40,470

$—

$12,870

Other debt securities
Total

Due after one
year through
five years

$

—

Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2007

Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Other debt securities
Total

Due in one
year or less

¥

—

Due after one
year through
five years

¥

Due after five
years through
ten years

Due after ten
years

10

¥—

¥

—

1,800

4,145

—

1,300

1,100

1,000

—

—

¥2,900

¥5,155

¥—

¥1,300

4. Inventories
Inventories at March 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:
As of March 31,

Finished products

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2008

2007

2008

¥ 57,860

¥ 59,504

Work in process

25,120

26,187

251,200

Raw materials and supplies

18,867

19,351

188,670

¥101,849

¥105,043

$1,018,490

Total

$

578,600

5. Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to ¥38,548
million ($385,480 thousand) and ¥34,504 million, respectively.

6. Short-Term Debt
At March 31, 2008 and 2007, short-term debt consisted of the following:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2008

2007

2008

Bank loans

¥68,883

¥74,214

$688,830

Total

¥68,883

¥74,214

$688,830

As of March 31,

Short-term bank loans are unsecured and the interest rates applicable to the loans at March 31, 2008 and 2007
ranged principally from 1.10 percent to 7.66 percent and from 0.43 percent to 7.50 percent, respectively.
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7. Income Taxes
Income taxes applicable to the Company and its domestic subsidiaries comprise corporation tax, inhabitants’ taxes
and enterprise tax which, in the aggregate, resulted in a statutory tax rate of 40.5 percent for both 2008 and 2007.
Income taxes of the foreign subsidiaries are based generally on the tax rates applicable in their countries of
incorporation.
The effective tax rates reflected in the consolidated statements of income for the years ended March 31, 2008
and 2007 differ from the statutory tax rate for the following reasons:

Year ended March 31,

2008

2007

Statutory tax rates

40.5%

40.5%

Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes

2.3

3.2

Tax credits

(6.0)

(5.3)

Different tax rates applied to income of foreign subsidiaries

(4.6)

(3.0)

Elimination of dividend income

2.1

1.9

Changes in valuation allowance

(2.0)

—

Equity in earnings of affiliated companies

(2.9)

(2.8)

Other, net

0.7

0.9

30.1%

35.4%

Effect of:

Effective tax rates

The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:

As of March 31,

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2008

2007

2008

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued retirement benefits

¥12,187

¥13,593

$121,870

Property, plant and equipment

2,289

2,031

22,890

Accrual payroll expenses

3,429

4,407

34,290

Accrued bonuses

4,404

4,311

44,040

11,591

15,636

115,910

3,746

3,486

37,460

500

598

5,000

Other
Valuation allowance

9,060
(21,711)

10,343
(26,855)

90,600
(217,110)

Total deferred tax assets

25,499

27,553

254,990

Net loss carryforward
Inventories
Loss on devaluation of investment securities

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation
Unrealized holding gain on securities
Gain on contribution of securities to employees’ retirement
benefit trust
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liabilities
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(2,893)

(3,698)

(28,930)

(13,670)

(26,010)

(136,700)

(13,010)
(13,521)

(13,010)
(11,474)

(130,100)
(135,210)

(43,095)
¥(17,595)

(54,194)
¥(26,640)

(430,950)
$(175,950)

8. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
At March 31, 2008 and 2007, accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2008

2007

2008

Accrued bonuses

¥12,554

¥12,145

$125,540

Dividends payable
Other

4,904
44,906

4,900
39,275

49,040
449,060

¥62,364

¥56,320

$623,640

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2007

2008

As of March 31,

Total

9. Long-Term Debt
At March 31, 2008 and 2007, long-term debt consisted of the following:

2008

As of March 31,

Secured loans from banks, insurance companies and others,
due through 2023 at interest rates ranging from 1.50 percent
to 15.00 percent
Unsecured loans from banks, insurance companies and others,
due through 2018 at interest rates ranging from 0.99 percent
to 6.17 percent

¥

459

¥

788

$

4,590

58,071

55,553

580,710

137,000

125,000

1,370,000

195,530
(25,904)

181,342
(33,654)

1,955,300
(259,040)

¥169,625

¥147,687

$1,696,250

Unsecured yen bonds:
At interest rates ranging from 0.86 percent to 3.08 percent,
due through 2017
Less current portion
Total

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt subsequent to March 31, 2008 are summarized as follows:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2009

¥ 25,904

$ 259,040

2010

17,757

177,570

2011

26,512

265,120

2012

43,516

435,160

Year ending March 31,

2013 and thereafter
Total

81,834

818,340

¥195,530

$1,955,300

The assets pledged as collateral for notes and accounts payable and long-term debt at March 31, 2008 were as follows:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

¥ 137

$ 1,370

As of March 31, 2008

Investment securities
Property, plant and equipment, at net book value
Total

6,371

63,710

¥6,510

$65,100
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10. Retirement Benefit Plans
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have defined benefit plans, i.e., tax-qualified pension plans and lumpsum payment plans, covering substantially all employees who are entitled to lump-sum or annuity payments, the
amounts of which are determined by reference to their basic rates of pay, length of service, and the conditions
under which termination occurs. Certain foreign subsidiaries also have defined benefit pension plans.
The following tables set forth the funded and accrued status of the plans, and the amounts recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 for the Company’s and the subsidiaries’ defined
benefit plans:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2008

2007

2008

¥(146,627)

¥(168,882)

$(1,466,270)

As of March 31,

Retirement benefit obligation
Plan assets at fair value

168,439

216,152

1,684,390

Surplus of plan assets over retirement benefit obligation

21,811

47,270

218,110

Unrecognized actuarial gain or loss

(9,055)

(42,969)

(90,550)

Unrecognized prior service cost

(5,519)

(6,130)

(55,190)

Net retirement benefit obligation

7,237

(1,829)

72,370

43,830

38,063

438,300

¥ (36,592)

¥(39,893)

$ (365,920)

Prepaid pension cost
Accrued retirement benefits

The components of retirement benefit expenses for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 are outlined as follows:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2008

2007

2008

Service cost

¥4,964

¥5,533

$49,640

Interest cost

5,496

6,556

54,960

Expected return on plan assets

(7,076)

(7,417)

(70,760)

Amortization of actuarial gain or loss
Amortization of prior service cost

(3,591)
(663)

(1,951)
(419)

(35,910)
(6,630)

(871)

2,301

(8,710)

597
¥ (273)

575
¥2,877

5,970
$ (2,730)

Year ended March 31,

Net period retirement benefit costs
Contribution to defined contribution plans
Total
The assumptions used in accounting for the above plans were as follows:

Year ended March 31,

Discount rate
Expected rate of return on plan assets

2008

2007

Mainly 2.2%
Mainly 2.2%

Mainly 2.2%
Mainly 2.2%

11. Shareholders’ Equity
The Corporation Law of Japan (the “Law”), which superseded most of the provisions of the Commercial Code of
Japan, went into effect on May 1, 2006. The Law provides that an amount equal to 10% of the amount to be
distributed as distributions of capital surplus (other than the capital reserve) and retained earnings (other than the
legal reserve) be transferred to the capital reserve and the legal reserve, respectively, until the sum of the capital
reserve and the legal reserve equals 25% of the common stock account. Such distributions can be made at any
time by resolution of the shareholders, or by the Board of Directors if certain conditions are met, but neither the
capital reserve nor the legal reserve is available for distributions.
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12. Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses and manufacturing costs
for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to ¥10,240 million ($102,400 thousand) and ¥10,100
million, respectively.

13. Commitments and Contingencies
(a) At March 31, 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries had the following contingent liabilities:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

¥ 92
333

$ 920
3,330

¥426

$4,260

As of March 31, 2008

As guarantor of indebtedness of:
Employees
Affiliated companies
Total

(b) Factored receivables for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to ¥8,239 million ($82,390
thousand) and ¥8,003 million, respectively.
(c) Under the terms of a permit for commencing economic activity within the Walbrzych Special Economic Zone,
NSK Steering Systems Europe (Polska) Sp. z o.o. is committed to make investments amounting to PLN128 million
by March 31, 2009. NSK Steering Systems Europe (Polska) Sp. z o.o. made investments of PLN80 million through
March 31, 2008 in accordance with this agreement.

14. Leases
(a) Finance Leases
The following pro forma amounts represent the acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation and net book value of
the leased property as of March 31, 2008 and 2007, which would have been reflected in the consolidated balance
sheets if finance lease accounting had been applied to the finance leases currently accounted for as operating leases:

As of March 31,

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2008

2007

2008

¥4,782

¥4,558

$47,820

Acquisition costs:
Machinery, vehicles and equipment
Other assets
Total

587

891

5,870

¥5,370

¥5,450

$53,700

¥2,555

¥2,090

$25,550

314

664

3,140

¥2,870

¥2,755

$28,700

¥2,227

¥2,468

$22,270

272

227

2,720

¥2,500

¥2,695

$25,000

Accumulated depreciation:
Machinery, vehicles and equipment
Other assets
Total
Net book value:
Machinery, vehicles and equipment
Other assets
Total
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Lease payments relating to finance leases accounted for as operating leases amounted to ¥971 million ($9,710
thousand) and ¥1,105 million, which were equal to the depreciation expense of the leased assets computed by the
straight-line method over the lease terms, for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Future minimum lease payments (including the interest portion thereon) subsequent to March 31, 2008 for
finance leases accounted for as operating leases are summarized as follows:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

¥ 883

$ 8,830

Year ending March 31,

2009
2010 and thereafter
Total

1,616

16,160

¥2,500

$25,000

(b) Operating Leases
Future minimum lease payments subsequent to March 31, 2008 for noncancelable operating leases are
summarized as follows:
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

¥1,172

$11,720

3,453

34,530

¥4,626

$46,260

Year ending March 31,

2009
2010 and thereafter
Total

15. Derivative Transactions
The Company and certain subsidiaries have entered into derivative transactions in order to manage certain risks
arising from adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.
The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of nonperformance of the counterparties to its derivatives
positions, but any such loss would not be material because the Company enters into such transactions only with
financial institutions with high credit ratings.
Summarized below are the notional amounts and the estimated fair value of the derivative transactions
outstanding at March 31, 2008 and 2007:

Currency-related transactions

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2008

Notional
amount

Fair value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Notional
amount

Fair value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Forward foreign exchange contracts
Sell:
US$

¥

14

¥

59

¥

15

¥ (0)

$
$

140

$

590

$

150

$ (0)

600

$

Buy:
US$
STG£
A$
NZ$
YEN
Total
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¥

60

¥ 0

157

155

(1)

1,570

1,550

0

60

60

0

600

600

0

2
2,763

2
2,840

(0)
76

20
27,630

20
28,400

(0)
760

¥3,059

¥3,134

¥74

$30,590

$31,340

$740

(10)

Millions of yen
Notional
amount

As of March 31, 2007

Fair value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Forward foreign exchange contracts
Buy:
US$

84

¥ (0)

STG£

93

92

(0)

EURO
YEN

51
1,320

51
1,299

0
(21)

¥1,550

¥1,528

¥(22)

Total

¥

85

¥

The notional amounts of the forward foreign exchange contracts presented above exclude those entered into
hedge receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies, which have been translated and are reflected at
their corresponding contracted rates in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Interest-related transactions
At March 31, 2008 and 2007, the disclosure of fair value information for interest-related derivatives positions has
been omitted since all derivatives have been accounted for as hedges.

16. Amounts Per Share
Yen

U.S. dollars

2008

2007

2008

¥ 78.84

¥ 64.53

$0.788

78.79

64.47

0.787

Year ended March 31,

Net income:
Basic
Diluted
Net assets
Cash dividends applicable to the year

495.61

485.62

4.956

¥ 19.00

¥ 16.00

$0.190

Basic net income per share is computed based on the net income available for distribution to shareholders of
common stock and the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each year.
Diluted net income per share is computed based on the net income available for distribution to the shareholders
and the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each year after giving effect to
the dilutive potential of shares of common stock to be issued upon the conversion of convertible bonds and the
exercise of stock options.
Amounts per share of net assets are computed based on net assets available for distribution to the shareholders
and the number of shares of common stock outstanding at the year end.
Cash dividends per share represent the cash dividends resolved by the Board of Directors as applicable to that
year together with the interim cash dividends paid.

17. Related Party Transactions
The Company purchased goods for resale in the amounts of ¥59,593 million ($595,930 thousand) and ¥53,727
million from NSK-Warner K.K., its major affiliate, which was accounted for by the equity method for the years ended
March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The related payable balances at March 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to
¥12,488 million ($124,880 thousand) and ¥14,280 million, respectively. The purchase prices were negotiated on an
arm’s-length basis based on the final retail prices of the Company.
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18. Supplementary Cash Flow Information
Summary of assets and liabilities excluded from consolidation because of sales of stock in subsidiaries
The following is a summary of the transferred assets and liabilities, relevant selling prices and net cash inflows
resulting from the sales of stock in subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2007:
Millions of yen
Year ended March 31, 2007

Current assets

¥ 841

Non-current assets

918

Current liabilities

(760)

Non-current liabilities

(162)

Gain on sales of stocks of affiliated companies

540

Unrealized profit regarding sale of stock

492

Proceeds from sales of stock

1,870

Cash and cash equivalents held by affiliated companies

(8)

Net cash inflows

¥1,861

19. Segment Information
The Company and its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the manufacture and sales of products in the industrial
machinery bearings segment, the automotive products segment and the precision machinery and parts segment.
The main products in each segment are as follows:
• Industrial machinery bearings segment: includes standard ball bearings (miniature and small-sized ball
bearings, normal-sized ball bearings) and bearings for general industrial use (tapered and cylindrical roller
bearings, large-sized ball bearings)
• Automotive products segment: includes hub unit bearings, needle roller bearings, small-sized tapered roller bearings,
standard ball bearings, steering columns, electric power steering (EPS) systems and automatic transmission (AT)
components
• Precision machinery and parts segment: includes ball screws, linear guides, XY tables, megatorque motors
and exposure equipment for LCD panel production
• Other segment: includes plant and equipment, steel balls and other products.
The business segment information for the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the years ended March
31, 2008 and 2007 is summarized as follows:
Millions of yen
Industrial
machinery
bearings

¥ 239,056

Year ended March 31, 2008

Sales to third parties

Intersegment sales and
transfers
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Automotive
products

Precision
machinery
and parts

Other

Total

¥ 435,705

¥ 68,186

¥ 29,087

¥ 772,036

— 		

— 		

Eliminations
and other

¥

—

Consolidated

¥ 772,036

— 		 27,140 		 27,140 		 (27,140) 		

—

Total

		 239,056 		 435,705 		 68,186 		 56,227 		 799,176 		 (27,140) 		 772,036

Operating expenses

		 205,567 		 405,044 		 59,565 		 53,388 		 723,566 		 (20,873) 		 702,692

Operating income (loss)

¥ 33,489

¥ 30,660

¥

Total assets

¥ 238,546

¥ 313,795

Depreciation

¥ 14,570

Capital expenditures

¥ 22,400

8,620

¥

2,839

¥ 75,610

¥ (6,266) ¥ 69,343

¥ 63,851

¥ 86,146

¥ 702,340

¥ 126,240

¥ 18,369

¥

3,731

¥

2,717

¥ 39,388

¥ (1,008) ¥ 38,380

¥ 22,982

¥

4,517

¥

5,199

¥ 55,100

¥ (1,194) ¥ 53,905

¥ 828,580

Thousands of U.S. dollars
Industrial
machinery
bearings

Year ended March 31, 2008

Sales to third parties

Precision
machinery
and parts

Automotive
products

Other

$2,390,560 $4,357,050 $ 681,860 $ 290,870 $7,720,360

Intersegment sales and
transfers
		

— 		

— 		

Eliminations
and other

Total

$

Consolidated

— $7,720,360

— 		 271,400 		 271,400 		 (271,400) 		

—

Total

		 2,390,560 		 4,357,050 		 681,860 		 562,270 		 7,991,760 		 (271,400) 		 7,720,360

Operating expenses

		 2,055,670 		 4,050,440 		 595,650 		 533,880 		 7,235,660 		 (208,730) 		 7,026,920

Operating income (loss) $ 334,890 $ 306,600 $

86,200 $

28,390 $ 756,100 $ (62,660) $ 693,430

Total assets

$2,385,460 $3,137,950 $ 638,510 $ 861,460 $7,023,400 $1,262,400 $8,285,800

Depreciation

$ 145,700 $ 183,690 $

37,310 $

27,170 $ 393,880 $ (10,080) $ 383,800

Capital expenditures

$ 224,000 $ 229,820 $

45,170 $

51,990 $ 551,000 $ (11,940) $ 539,050
Millions of yen

Industrial
machinery
bearings

Automotive
products

Precision
machinery
and parts

Other

Total

¥ 216,338

¥ 397,863

¥ 77,719

¥ 25,303

¥ 717,225

Year ended March 31, 2007

Sales to third parties

Intersegment sales and
transfers
		

— 		

— 		

Eliminations
and other

¥

Consolidated

—

¥ 717,225

— 		 19,812 		 19,812 		 (19,812) 		

—

Total

		 216,338 		 397,863 		 77,719 		 45,116 		 737,037 		 (19,812) 		 717,225

Operating expenses

		 186,786 		 375,175 		 66,179 		 42,717 		 670,858 		 (16,016) 		 654,842

Operating income (loss)

¥ 29,551

¥ 22,687

¥ 11,540

¥

2,398

¥ 66,178

¥ (3,795) ¥ 62,383

Total assets

¥ 228,627

¥ 291,650

¥ 64,177

¥ 84,748

¥ 669,203

¥ 146,585

Depreciation

¥ 13,144

¥ 17,564

¥

3,436

¥

2,375

¥ 36,519

¥ (1,202) ¥ 35,316

Capital expenditures

¥ 12,174

¥ 19,550

¥

3,402

¥

3,038

¥ 38,164

¥

¥ 815,788

(475) ¥ 37,689

As described in Note 1(i), effective the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries in the
United Kingdom had changed their method of accounting for retirement benefit plans to accounting for such plans in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, from accounting for them in accordance with
those in the United Kingdom. The effect of this change was to increase operating income for “Industrial machinery
bearings” segment by ¥14 million, to decrease operating income for “Automotive products” segment and “Precision
machinery and parts” segment by ¥15 million and ¥4 million, respectively, for the year ended March 31, 2007 as
compared with the corresponding amounts which would have been recorded under the previous method.
The geographical segment information for the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the years ended
March 31, 2008 and 2007 is summarized as follows:
Millions of yen
Year ended March 31, 2008

Sales to third parties

Japan

The
Americas

Europe

Asia

Total

¥ 440,823

¥ 105,131

¥ 132,310

¥ 93,769

¥ 772,036

Eliminations
and other

¥

—

Consolidated

¥ 772,036

Interarea sales and
transfers

		 117,181 		

Total

		 558,004 		 106,004 		 139,956 		 117,994 		 921,959 		 (149,923) 		 772,036

Operating expenses

		 511,171 		 101,137 		 129,815 		 104,804 		 846,927 		 (144,235) 		 702,692

872 		

7,645 		 24,224 		 149,923 		 (149,923) 		

—

Operating income (loss) ¥ 46,833

¥

4,867

¥ 10,141

¥ 13,189

¥ 75,031

¥

Total assets

¥ 63,598

¥ 95,304

¥ 107,735

¥ 937,805

¥(109,225) ¥ 828,580

¥ 671,168

(5,688) ¥ 69,343
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Thousands of U.S. dollars
Year ended March 31, 2008

Sales to third parties

Japan

The
Americas

Europe

Asia

Eliminations
and other

Total

$4,408,230 $1,051,310 $1,323,100 $ 937,690 $7,720,360 $

Consolidated

— $7,720,360

Interarea sales and
transfers

		 1,171,810 		

Total

		 5,580,040 		 1,060,040 		 1,399,560 		 1,179,940 		 9,219,590 		(1,499,230) 		 7,720,360

Operating expenses

		 5,111,710 		 1,011,370 		 1,298,150 		 1,048,040 		 8,469,270 		(1,442,350) 		 7,026,920

Operating income (loss) $ 468,330 $
Total assets

8,720 		

76,450 		 242,240 		 1,499,230 		(1,499,230) 		

—

48,670 $ 101,410 $ 131,890 $ 750,310 $ (56,880) $ 693,430

$6,711,680 $ 635,980 $ 953,040 $ 1,077,350 $ 9,378,050 $ (1,092,250) $ 8,285,800
Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2007

Sales to third parties

Japan

The
Americas

Europe

¥ 416,479 ¥ 102,349 ¥ 121,101

Asia

Total

¥ 77,294 ¥ 717,225

Eliminations
and other

¥

Consolidated

— ¥ 717,225

Interarea sales and
transfers

105,858

571

6,479

21,399

134,309

(134,309)

—

Total

522,338

102,921

127,581

98,694

851,534

(134,309)

717,225

Operating expenses

474,943

99,114

120,927

89,241

784,227

(129,384)

654,842

Operating income (loss) ¥ 47,394 ¥
Total assets

3,806 ¥

6,653

¥ 639,878 ¥ 69,466 ¥ 89,871

¥ 9,453 ¥ 67,307 ¥

(4,924) ¥ 62,383

¥ 94,528 ¥ 893,744 ¥ (77,955) ¥ 815,788

As described in Note 1(i), effective the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries in the
United Kingdom had changed their method of accounting for retirement benefit plans to accounting for such plans
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, from accounting for them in accordance
with those in the United Kingdom. The effect of this change was to decrease operating income for “Europe”
segment by ¥5 million for the year ended March 31, 2007 from the corresponding amount which would have been
recorded under the previous method.
Overseas sales, which include export sales of the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries and
sales (other than exports to Japan) of the foreign consolidated subsidiaries, for the years ended March 31, 2008
and 2007 are summarized as follows:
Millions of yen
Year ended March 31, 2008

Overseas sales

The Americas

Europe

Asia

Total

¥107,321

¥133,853

¥141,933

¥383,109

Consolidated net sales

¥772,036
Thousands of U.S. dollars

Year ended March 31, 2008

Overseas sales

The Americas

Europe

Asia

Total

$1,073,210

$1,338,530

$1,419,330

$3,831,090

Consolidated net sales
Overseas sales as a percentage of consolidated net sales

$7,720,360
13.9%

17.3%

18.4%

49.6%
Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2007

Overseas sales

The Americas

Europe

Asia

Total

¥105,111

¥121,698

¥126,021

¥352,830

Consolidated net sales
Overseas sales as a percentage of consolidated net sales
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¥717,225
14.6%

17.0%

17.6%

49.2%

20. Stock Option
Information regarding stock option plans of the Company at March 31, 2008 is as follows: :

Date of approval

June 27, 2002

Date of grant

August 6, 2002

June 29, 2004

June 29, 2005

June 27, 2006

June 26, 2007

August 18, 2004 August 18, 2005 August 25, 2006 August 28, 2007

8 directors,
26 executive
officers,
37 employees,
12 directors
of subsidiaries
specified by the
NSK Board of
Directors
Total 83

11 directors and
28 executive
officers,
34 employees,
16 directors
of subsidiaries
specified by the
NSK Board of
Directors
Total 89

12 directors and
28 executive
officers,
34 employees,
16 directors
of subsidiaries
specified by the
NSK Board of
Directors
Total 90

12 directors and
28 executive
officers,
37 employees,
18 directors
of subsidiaries
specified by the
NSK Board of
Directors
Total 95

12 directors and
28 executive
officers,
35 employees,
20 directors
of subsidiaries
specified by the
NSK Board of
Directors
Total 95

Type of shares to
be issued upon
exercise of share
subscription rights

Common stock

Common stock

Common stock

Common stock

Common stock

Number of shares
to be issued upon
exercise of share
subscription rights

545,000 shares

613,000 shares

639,000 shares

667,000 shares

743,000 shares

Exercise price (yen)

¥512

¥531

¥615

¥928

¥1,312

Grantees

Exercise period

August 6, 2002 –
August 3, 2007

August 18, 2004 – August 18, 2005 – August 25, 2006 – August 28, 2007 –
August 17, 2009 August 17, 2010 August 24, 2011 August 27, 2012

Stock options
outstanding as of
March 31, 2007

22,000 shares

147,000 shares

631,000 shares

662,000 shares

—

Exercised in this period

19,000 shares

94,000 shares

183,000 shares

—

—

Expired in this period

3,000 shares

—

—

—

—

Stock options
outstanding as of
March 31, 2008

—

53,000 shares

448,000 shares

662,000 shares

743,000 shares

Weighted average
exercise price (yen)

¥1,236

¥1,110

¥1,036

—

—

Weighted average
fair value per stock
at the granted date

—

—

—

¥240

¥146

Stock option expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended March 31, 2008
amounted to ¥114 million ($1,140 thousand). The fair value of the stock options granted for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2008 is estimated based on the following preconditions:

Date of approval

June 26, 2007

Valuation model

Binominal model

Expected volatility

33%

Expected holding period

4.8 years

Expected dividend

1.67%

Risk-free rate

1 year: 0.75% 2 year: 0.88% 3 year: 0.99% 4 year: 1.09% 5 year: 1.18%

21. Treasury Stock
Treasury Stock the Company and affiliates owned for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 were 10,690,649
common stocks and 10,878,248 common stocks, respectively.
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
NSK Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NSK Ltd. and consolidated
subsidiaries as of March 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes
in net assets, and cash flows for the years then ended, all expressed in yen. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of NSK Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries at March 31, 2008 and
2007 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

Supplemental Information
As described in Note 1(i), effective the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company’s consolidated
subsidiaries in the United Kingdom had changed their method of accounting for retirement benefit plans
to accounting for such plans in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, from
accounting for them in accordance with those in the United Kingdom.
The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to the year
ended March 31, 2008 are presented solely for convenience. Our audit also included the translation of
yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such translation has been made on the basis
described in Note 2.

June 24, 2008
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NSK Group

Region

Company Name

Consolidated Equity

Outline of Business

JAPAN
Japan

NSK SALES CO., LTD.
NSK MICRO PRECISION CO., LTD.

100.00%
55.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts
Manufacture and sales of bearings

NSK MICRO PRECISION CO., LTD. (NAGANO)

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

NSK FUKUSHIMA CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

NSK NEEDLE BEARING LTD.

98.06%

Manufacture of bearings

NSK STEERING SYSTEMS CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of automotive components

NSK PRECISION CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of precision machinery & parts

NSK KYUSHU CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of precision machinery & parts

ASAHI SEIKI CO., LTD.

73.75%

Manufacture of bearing parts and automotive components

AMATSUJI STEEL BALL MFG. CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of steel and ceramic balls, etc.

AKS EAST JAPAN CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of steel balls

SHINWA SEIKO CO., LTD.

82.42%

Manufacture of bearing parts

NOMURA TEKKOSHO CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearing parts

NSK MACHINERY CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of machine tools and precision machinery & parts

NSK REAL ESTATE CO., LTD.

100.00%

Real estate management and rental

NISSEI BLDG. MANAGEMENT LTD.

70.00%

Management of Nissei Building

NSK-CHUGAI, LTD.

45.00%

Insurance agent and sales of machine components, etc.

NSK-SAYAMA, LTD.

100.00%

Insurance agent

NSK HUMAN RESOURCE SERVICES LTD.

100.00%

Provision of personnel support services and consulting

NSK CAREER SUPPORT CO., LTD.

100.00%

Provision of personnel assignment and job placement services

NSK LOGISTICS CO., LTD.

100.00%

Distributor of NSK Group products and manufacturing contractor of
machine components

NSK NETWORK AND SYSTEMS CO., LTD.

100.00%

Provision of consulting, design, development, sales and maintenance services
for computer systems and networks

INOUE JIKUUKE KOGYO CO., LTD.

40.00%

Manufacture and sales of bearings

NSK-WARNER K.K.

50.00%

Manufacture of automotive components

CHITOSE SANGYO CO., LTD

50.00%

Manufacture of automotive components

THE AMERICAS
U.S.A.

NSK AMERICAS, INC.

100.00%

Control of American subsidiaries and affiliates

NSK CORPORATION

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings and sales of bearings, automotive components and
precision machinery & parts

NSK PRECISION AMERICA, INC.

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of precision machinery & parts

NSK LATIN AMERICA, INC.

100.00%

Sales of bearings and precision machinery & parts

NSK STEERING SYSTEMS AMERICA, INC.

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of automotive components

NSK-AKS PRECISION BALL COMPANY

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of steel balls

NSK-WARNER U.S.A., INC.

50.00%

Sales and technical services of automotive components

Canada

NSK CANADA INC.

100.00%

Mexico

NSK RODAMIENTOS MEXICANA, S.A. DE C.V.

100.00%

Sales of bearings and precision machinery & parts

Brazil

NSK BRASIL LTDA.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings and sales of bearings and precision machinery & parts

NSK ARGENTINA S.R.L.

100.00%

Sales of bearings and precision machinery & parts

NSK EUROPE LTD.

100.00%

Control of European subsidiaries and affiliates

NSK UK LTD.

100.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts

NSK BEARINGS EUROPE LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

NSK STEERING SYSTEMS EUROPE LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of automotive components

NSK PRECISION UK LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of precision machinery & parts

AKS PRECISION BALL EUROPE LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of steel balls

NSK EUROPA HOLDING GMBH

100.00%

Holding company of subsidiaries in Germany

NSK DEUTSCHLAND GMBH

100.00%

Sales of bearings and automotive components

NSK PRECISION EUROPE GMBH

100.00%

Sales of precision machinery & parts

NEUWEG FERTIGUNG GMBH

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

NSK FRANCE S.A.S

100.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts

Argentina

Sales of bearings and precision machinery & parts

EUROPE
U.K.

Germany

France
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Region
Italy

Company Name
NSK ITALIA S.P.A.
INDUSTRIA CUSCINETTI S.P.A.

Spain
Netherlands
Poland

Turkey
South Africa

Consolidated Equity
100.00%
36.19%

NSK SPAIN S.A.

100.00%

NSK EUROPEAN DISTRIBUTION CENTRE B.V.

100.00%

NSK BEARINGS POLSKA S.A.

93.20%

Outline of Business
Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts
Manufacture and sales of bearings
Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts
Warehousing and distribution of bearings and automotive components
Manufacture of bearings

NSK POLSKA SP. Z O.O.

100.00%

Sales of bearings

NSK NEEDLE BEARING POLAND SP. Z O.O.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

NSK STEERING SYSTEMS EUROPE (POLSKA) SP. Z O.O.

100.00%

Manufacture of automotive components

AKS PRECISION BALL POLSKA SP. Z O.O.

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of steel balls

NSK RULMANLARI ORTA DOGU TIC. LTD. STI
(NSK BEARINGS MIDDLE EAST TRADING CO., LTD.)

100.00%

Sales of bearings and precision machinery & parts

NSK SOUTH AFRICA (PTY) LTD.

100.00%

Sales of bearings and precision machinery & parts

NSK INTERNATIONAL (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD.

100.00%

Sales of bearings

ASIA
Singapore

NSK SINGAPORE (PRIVATE) LTD.
Indonesia

Thailand

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

PT. NSK INDONESIA

100.00%

Sales of bearings

PT. AKS PRECISION BALL INDONESIA

100.00%

Manufacture of steel balls

PT. NSK-WARNER INDONESIA

50.00%

Manufacture of automotive components

NSK BEARINGS MANUFACTURING (THAILAND) CO., LTD.

74.90%

Manufacture and sales of bearings

74.90%

Manufacture and sales of automotive components

100.00%

Technological support and development of bearings

NSK ASIA PACIFIC TECHNOLOGY CENTRE (THAILAND)
CO., LTD.

China

NSK BEARINGS (THAILAND) CO., LTD.

49.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts

NSK BEARINGS (MALAYSIA) SDN. BHD.

51.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts

NSK MICRO PRECISION (M) SDN. BHD.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

ISC MICRO PRECISION SDN. BHD.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

NSK (CHINA) INVESTMENT CO., LTD.

100.00%

Holding company of Chinese subsidiaries and affiliates

NSK (SHANGHAI) TRADING CO., LTD.

100.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts

KUNSHAN NSK CO., LTD.

Hong Kong
Taiwan
South Korea

Vietnam
India

Sales of bearings and precision machinery & parts

PT. NSK BEARINGS MANUFACTURING INDONESIA

SIAM NSK STEERING SYSTEMS CO., LTD.

Malaysia

70.00%

85.00%

Manufacture and sales of bearings

CHANGSHU NSK NEEDLE BEARING CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of bearings

NSK CHINA SALES CO., LTD.

100.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts

NSK STEERING SYSTEMS DONGGUAN CO., LTD

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of automotive components

ZHANGJIAGANG NSK PRECISION MACHINERY CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearing parts

SUZHOU NSK BEARINGS CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

AKS PRECISION BALL (HANGZHOU) CO., LTD

100.00%

Manufacture and sales of steel balls

NSK (CHINA) RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

100.00%

Technological support and development of bearings, automotive components
and precision machinery & parts

NSK-WARNER (SHANGHAI) CO., LTD.

50.00%

Manufacture of automotive components

NSK-WANDA ELECTRIC POWER ASSISTED STEERING
SYSTEMS CO., LTD.

60.00%

Manufacture of automotive components

NSK-YAGI PRECISION FORGING (ZHANGJIAGANG) CO., LTD.

70.00%

Manufacture of bearing parts

NSK HONG KONG LTD.

70.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts

TAIWAN NSK PRECISION CO., LTD.

70.00%

Sales of precision machinery & parts

TAIWAN NSK TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.

100.00%

Sales of precision machinery & parts

NSK KOREA CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings and sales of bearings, automotive components and
precision machinery & parts

NSK NEEDLE BEARING KOREA CO., LTD.

100.00%

Manufacture of bearings

NSK VIETNAM CO., LTD.

100.00%

Sales of bearings

NSK INDIA SALES CO. PVT. LTD.

100.00%

Sales of bearings and automotive components

NSK-ABC BEARINGS LTD.

75.00%

RANE NSK STEERING SYSTEMS LTD.

50.00%

Manufacture of bearings
Manufacture and sales of automotive components

Australia

NSK AUSTRALIA PTY. LTD.

100.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts

New Zealand

NSK NEW ZEALAND LTD.

100.00%

Sales of bearings, automotive components and precision machinery & parts
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Information for Investors
As of March 31, 2008

Corporate Address

Common Stock

NSK Ltd.

Authorized: 987,244,000 shares

Nissei Bldg., 1-6-3 Ohsaki, Shinagawa-ku,

Issued: 551,268,104 shares

Tokyo 141-8560, Japan

*The annual meeting of shareholders was held on June 25, 2008 and portions of the
articles of incorporation were amended to increase the number of authorized shares by
712,756,000 shares to 1,700,000,000 shares from that date.

Tel: +81-3-3779-7111
Fax: +81-3-3779-7431/7445

Number of Shareholders
Contact Information

24,753

For questions or additional information, please contact:
IR & CSR Office, NSK Ltd.

Transfer Agent

Nissei Bldg., 1-6-3 Ohsaki, Shinagawa-ku,

Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd.

Tokyo 141-8560, Japan

1-2-1 Yaesu, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 103-8670, Japan

Tel: +81-3-5487-2564
Fax: +81-3-3779-7442

Listings

E-mail: ir@nsk.com

Tokyo, Osaka

NSK’s Web Site

Breakdown of Shareholders

NSK has established a corporate web site to provide
information on earnings and other data, including
Annual Reports.

(Number of Shares)

13.1%

http://www.nsk.com
25.7%

49.6%

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders was held on June

9.4%

25, 2008 at the Company’s headquarters in Tokyo.

Financial Institutions
273,308,636
Securities Companies 12,113,288
Other Japanese
Corporations
51,893,224
Foreign Investors
141,847,568
Individuals/Others
72,105,388

2.2%

Share Price Movement
NSK Stock Price
(Yen)

TOPIX
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The TOPIX (Tokyo Stock Price Index) is the stock price index calculated and published by the Tokyo Stock Exchange in order to express the changes of the Tokyo Stock Market.
The TOPIX is calculated by aggregated market value listed in the 1st Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange to denominate the base market value (January 4, 1968) 100.
The TOPIX (Tokyo Stock Price Index) is the intellectual property owned by the Tokyo Stock Exchange and the Tokyo Stock Exchange owns all rights relating to the TOPIX Index such
as calculating, publishing and use of the TOPIX Index Value and relating to the TOPIX Trademarks.
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